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Sirtex Medical Ltd

Innovators in Oncology 

Chairman’s Report 2005 

Overview 
I am pleased to report to shareholders that Sirtex has made good progress over the past year. 
Many changes were implemented during the year and the company is now starting to reap the 
benefit of those developments. 

My report to shareholders in 2004 outlined eight objectives to be achieved during the 2005 
financial year and I am able to report that seven of these objectives have been achieved. These 
achievements include: 

• The Board of Directors and Management have been strengthened with Mr Gilman Wong, 
Dr John Eady and Mr Richard Hill being appointed to the Board. Mr Gilman Wong was 
also initially appointed as Chief Operating Officer and subsequently as Chief Executive 
Officer; 

• The technology and manufacturing capability for production of unlabelled microspheres 
that are the precursor for SIR-Spheres® and drug-microspheres has been developed and 
brought in-house; 

• Several clinical trials have been finalised and the results published in the international 
literature; 

• The marketing force in the USA and Europe has been expanded; 
• A Medical Advisory Board has been appointed for Europe; 
• New clinical data has been generated that will form the basis of a further submission to 

the Food and Drug Administration in the USA to seek an extension to the Company’s 
labelled indications for use of SIR-Spheres® in the USA; 

• New markets have been opened in several new jurisdictions including Italy, India and 
Israel; 

• Operating revenue from sales of SIR-Spheres® has increased in the USA and Europe in 
comparison to 2004; and 

• Several new products have been evaluated to potentially expand the Company’s product 
range, with several opportunities now under consideration. 

Company Headquarters 
Sirtex was required to relocate from its North Ryde office to Lane Cove Business Park as a result 
of re-development of the North Ryde site. The headquarters in Lane Cove are more suitable and 
have been rented at a considerable cost saving compared to the North Ryde site. 

Financial 
Unit sales of SIR-Spheres® increased over the year by 27% from 581 in 2004 to 739 in 2005, 
resulting in an increase in consolidated sales revenue of 24% from AUD$ 9,517,000 in 2004 to 
$11,830,000 in 2005. This increase was seen in both the USA (from $8,063,000 to $9,638,000) 
and Europe (from $373,000 to $1,401,000). 
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Of significance is that the rate of increase in sales revenue occurred mainly in the second half of 
the 2005 financial year where the increase was 40% in comparison with the same period the 
previous year. Sirtex management believes that there will be continued growth in sales revenue 
over the next year.  

Sirtex ended the year with a Net Loss Before Tax (NLBT) of $1,430,000 and a Net Loss After 
Tax of $1,442,000. This compared with last year’s NLBT of $617,000 and Net Profit After Tax 
of $697,000.The gross margin on total sales was 74.8% for the year (2004: 72.7%). 

Sirtex’s cash reserve position remains strong at year-end with $6,814,000 in cash and cash 
equivalents. The main increases in operating expenditure during the year were in sales and 
marketing, in expanding the European operations and administration. 

Operations 
The manufacturing facility in Wilmington, Massachusetts has been fitted out and the facility can 
now be commissioned for production. Commissioning will require the purchase of some 
additional equipment and obtaining the regulatory approvals. Management has determined that 
the start of production at the new facility will be timed to coincide with a level of demand in 
product that will ensure optimal utilisation of the facility. 

Clinical 
Sirtex established a European Medical Advisory Board (MAB) during the year and the inaugural 
meeting occurred in November 2004. The MAB will act in an advisory capacity to management 
to advise on clinical trial operations, directions for future research and as Key Opinion Leaders 
regarding the use of the Company’s products. 

Many physicians who have used SIR-Spheres® to treat their patients have presented their early 
results at medical conferences and published their results in the international scientific press.  
This is resulting in an increase in the corpus of literature that supports the use of SIR-Spheres® as 
a treatment for liver cancer. During the year, peer reviewed articles were published in the 
scientific press from Australia, New Zealand, USA and Germany. Abstracted presentations were 
made at many national and international meetings. All of these independent reports support the 
use of SIR-Spheres® as a valuable treatment for patients with liver cancer. 

Further details of these articles can be accessed from the Sirtex web site at <www.Sirtex.com>
under ‘publications’. 

Many scientific articles on the use of SIR-Spheres® were published in the international press 
during the year, including the first report that described the use of Sir-Spheres® to treat metastatic 
breast cancer that had spread to the liver. This publication summarised the combined experience 
from three major hospitals in the USA and provided additional support for the use of SIR-
Spheres® in a variety of different cancers that have spread to the liver.

Research & Development 
Sirtex was successful in obtaining a grant of $1,311,000 from the Australian Federal Government 
under the START scheme administered by AusIndustry. The grant was awarded to support the 
Company’s ongoing research program into the use of hyperthermia as a new treatment modality 
for cancer. 
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Management had planned to start clinical trials in cancer patients using the hyperthermia 
technology during the 2005 calendar year. However, several unpredicted technical difficulties 
have delayed the start of clinical trials. Sirtex is working with the University of Sydney to solve 
these problems and the awarding of the $1,311,000 Government grant has provided the additional 
funds needed to address these issues.

Clinical trials are an integral part of product development and Sirtex supported or sponsored 
numerous clinical trials that are evaluating the use of SIR-Spheres® in a variety of clinical 
settings. Many further trials are planned for 2006 and beyond. 

Intellectual Property 
Several significant events occurred relating to the company’s intellectual property position, 
including: 

• Sirtex has received a Final Notice Action from the United States Patent and Trademark 
Office denying approval of the company’s application for its first iteration of
SIR-Spheres® as a result of prior disclosure of the technology. However, Sirtex believes 
this will have no material effect on revenue derived from sales of SIR-Spheres®.

• The patent application for the company’s subsequent generation of SIR-Spheres® has 
been granted in Europe. 

• The Japanese Patent Office has approved the company’s application relating to the use of 
rotational fields to generate hyperthermia. 

• Two further provisional patent applications have been lodged relating to the use of 
chemotherapy with targeted radiation. 

Future outlook 
The many changes that were necessary over the past eighteen months are now behind us and the 
company is focussing on growing revenue, prosecuting clinical trials that will support wider 
acceptance of the company’s technology and delivering new products to the market place. 

Although the many achievements that have occurred during 2005 are consistent with the 
objectives at the beginning of the year, the Board of Directors is dissatisfied with the rate of 
revenue growth that occurred during the first half of the year. The increase in revenue growth 
experienced in the second half of the fiscal year 2005, does indicate that the changes of the past 
eighteen months are now flowing through to increased sales. The Board expects that Sirtex will 
continue to grow and has every confidence in the new management team to achieve that outcome. 

Bruce N Gray 
Chairman 
Board of Directors
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report 2005 

Being new to the medical industry presented the opportunity to have a “fresh-eyes” approach to 
Sirtex following my recruitment as Chief Operating Officer in late February 2005 and my 
subsequent appointment as Chief Executive Officer on 24 May 2005.  I am overall very 
impressed with Sirtex; our SIR-Spheres® technology is excellent, we have a sound basic business 
structure and most importantly we have a dedicated and committed team.   

• Initially concentrate on current regions with a targeted sales and marketing strategy, then 
implement a progressive expansion into other global regions; 

• Improve training of staff, distributors and treating centres and conduct ongoing 
educational programmes and symposiums to provide up to date treatment information; 

• Increase our overall sales representation, together with necessary clinical and support 
functions, in key areas of the current regions we service; 

• Conduct branding and awareness campaigns for SIR-Spheres® in various media through 
structured Public Relations campaigns; 

• Establish an independently run Patient Registry to develop long-term outcome data and 
patient demographics on SIR-Spheres® treatments; 

• Sponsor and/or support various Clinical trials; and
• Develop and support Key Opinion Leaders who will advocate the use of SIR-Spheres® in 

the treatment of liver metastases from Colorectal Cancer to Medical Oncology and private 
third party payers. 

Overview 
Secondary liver cancer remains an undefeated killer in the western world. The incidence rate of 
the two dominant cancers, colorectal and pancreatic cancer, remain on the rise. The fastest 
growing in the western world today (and the most dominant cancer in Asia) is the primary liver 
cancer known as hepatocellular carcinoma. For these cancers the established treatments offer 
little more than a palliative benefit to the patient.  

For many years the gold standard treatment for colorectal cancer has been systemic 5-FU and 
Leucovorin chemotherapy. However, over the past few years several new chemotherapy agents 
have gained acceptance.  As a result the Medical Oncologists are often giving patients first, 
second, third and even fourth line chemotherapy treatment before patients are being referred for 
treatment with SIR-Spheres®. This essentially places SIR-Spheres® as a last resort treatment in 
the current environment. To move SIR-Spheres® further up the treatment line requires substantial 
Clinical Trial data in order to gain widespread acceptance from Medical Oncologists.   

Marketing Strategy 
Our sales strategy is initially to focus on the key markets we are currently represented in, and 
ensure that adequate resources are made available to ensure those markets are properly serviced. 
This is a departure from the historical approach of trying to expand into as many areas as 
possible. We will be adopting a more targeted strategy and will be concentrating on leading 
oncology hospitals that have an established liver directed program, specifically a liver resection 
programme. This is particularly so in the US market where we have identified all key hospitals 
based on the number of liver resections performed. A plan is in place to progressively enrol and 

Our company has enormous potential and in order to realise this potential my initial concentration 
has been on strengthening operations and procedures and developing and implementing an overall 
strategic plan.  Key points in our strategic plan include the following steps:  
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train these hospitals, so they have a team that can successfully conduct SIRT treatments. These 
sites will generate consistent treatments for appropriately selected patients. 

Currently the main drivers of SIR-Spheres® treatment are Interventional Radiologists, that 
specialises in oncology. This is particularly so in the U.S. market. There is financial reward 
through established procedural reimbursement and progressive Interventional Radiologists see 
SIR-Spheres® as an innovative therapy to champion.  For reasons stated earlier, most notably the 
lack of quantitative data on SIR-Spheres® and the new and improved treatment regimens that are 
showing extended survival data, Medical Oncologists are unwilling to refer patients for SIR-
Spheres® until traditional chemo/biologics have failed with their patients. This situation will be 
addressed with data from Clinical Trials, however it will take some time before the results of the 
Clinical Trials become available.  To expand the use of SIR-Spheres® in the interim we have put 
in place various strategies, as outlined above, to significantly increase sales volumes.   

Manufacturing 
The Wilmington Massachusetts site fit-out has now been completed. During the coming months 
the commissioning of the manufacturing plant and equipment, together with the various 
regulatory and licensing approvals will be undertaken. Production is currently planned to 
commence during second quarter of calendar 2006. This site will initially supply the US market. 
The current manufacturing facility at Lucas Heights will supply other regions. Sirtex is now in a 
strong position and has the manufacturing capacity to satisfy our growing sales volume.  

Clinical Trials 
In order to achieve quantum growth we need a larger body of clinical outcomes data that 
documents the improvements in response rate, time to progression of disease, survival and 
demonstrates an acceptable toxicity profile of SIR-Spheres® when used in combination 
established treatments. Our clinical strategy will address these issues. To this end Sirtex will be 
conducting a series of company sponsored Clinical Trials and in addition will be supporting 
several investigator initiated Clinical Trials. These trials will be conducted in Australia, USA and 
Europe.

Research & Development  
The hyperthermia project is progressing slower than anticipated due to some technical issues 
arising from our research and laboratory testing. Development work is continuing on this project 
with the intention to conduct initial clinical trials in patients during 2006.   
An Opportunities Committee has been established to identify and evaluate new technologies 
and/or products, to enable our company to expand its product range.    

The Future 
I do not underestimate the enormous challenges we face, however our Company is now in a 
strong position to start to realise its potential. We have improved operations and procedures, 
strengthened management with several key appointments, and implemented a strategic plan to 
move the business forward.
During the year we aim to establish a strong foundation for our future growth, and will be 
developing our plans for the longer-term growth and evolution of our Company. 
We have all the ingredients to succeed and I have great confidence we have now created an 
environment that has a strong focus on our goals to enable us to realise our potential and satisfy 
market expectations.  

Gilman E Wong 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Innovators in Oncology 

Sirtex Medical Ltd
A.B.N 35 078 166 122 

Financial report for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 



7

Sirtex Medical Ltd
Corporate Governance Statement 

Annual financial report
for the financial year ended
30 June 2005 

Page  

Corporate governance statement 1-9

Directors’ report 10-15

Auditors’ independence declaration 16

Independent audit report 17-18

Directors’ declaration 19

Statement of financial performance  20

Statement of financial position 21

Statement of cash flows 22

Notes to the financial statements 23-48

Additional stock exchange information 49-50

Corporate governance statement 8

Directors  ̓report 17

Auditors  ̓independence declaration 23

Independent audit report 24

Directors  ̓declaration 26

Statement of fi nancial performance  27

Statement of fi nancial position 28

Statement of cash fl ows 29

Notes to the fi nancial statements 30

Additional stock exchange information 56



8

Sirtex Medical Ltd
Corporate Governance Statement 

Corporate governance statement 
The Board and the Company recognise that the Company’s shareholders, employees, regulatory bodies, 
customers and the community expect a high standard of accountability, performance and ethical behaviour 
and the Board acknowledges its responsibilities for and commitment to best practice in corporate governance. 

Corporate governance should be transparent to all stakeholders and other interested parties. 

1. Board Charter 

1.1 Role of the Board 
The prime responsibility of the Board is to oversee Sirtex's business activities for the benefit of all 
shareholders. The Board has delegated responsibility for the management of the business, through the Chief 
Executive Officer, to executive management. The Chief Executive Officer is accountable to the Board for all 
authority delegated to executive management. 

The Board also recognises that the Company has other corporate and community responsibilities.  

1.2 Responsibilities of the Board 
The key responsibilities of the Board are to: 

• Establish and monitor corporate governance policies; 
• Contribute to and approve strategy and performance objectives developed by management; 
• Ensure appropriate policies and procedures are in place to manage risks and internal compliance; 
• Ensure appropriate policies, procedures and systems are in place to monitor performance and 

controls; 
• Approve and monitor financial reporting and budgets; 
• Approve major investments; 
• Determine the composition of the Board to ensure there is an appropriate mix of expertise and 

experience;
• Assess the performance of the Board as a whole and the contributions of individual Directors; 
• Appoint the Chief Executive Officer and approve succession plans and senior management 

remuneration; 
• Appoint the Chief Financial Officer; 
• Ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

1.3 Responsibilities of management 
The key responsibilities of management are to: 

• Assume and exercise the powers and perform the duties vested in management by the Board; 
• Manage the company’s financial affairs and investment decisions; 
• Develop corporate strategy, financial performance targets, budgets and plans for consideration and 

approval of the Board; 
• Manage the Company’s human resources; 
• Manage investor relations; 
• Manage the Company’s risk management procedures; 
• Manage the day-to-day operations of the Company. 

1.4 Membership of the Board 
The Constitution provides that the maximum number of Directors is twelve and the minimum number is three. 
Currently the Board comprises six Directors, three of these are Executive Directors and three are Non-
Executive Directors. The three Non-Executive Directors are considered to be independent with reference to 
the Company’s independence criteria referred to below. Under the Company’s Constitution any Director 
appointed to fill a casual vacancy must stand for election at the next AGM. The Company’s Constitution 
outlines all the circumstances where a Director must stand for re-election. 

The Directors will appoint one of their number as the Chairman. 
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Corporate Governance Statement (Contd). 1.4 Membership of the Board (Contd) 
The Board seeks to ensure that at any point in time its membership comprises persons with the appropriate 
skills, knowledge and experience to maximise its effectiveness and contribution to the company. 

The whole Board will act in the capacity of a nominating committee to add and remove Directors as 
appropriate. 

1.5 Independence of directors 
An independent Director is a Non-Executive Director who is not a member of management and: 

• Is not a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, 
a substantial shareholder of the Company; 

• Within the last three years has not been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or 
another group member, or been a Director after ceasing to hold any such position; 

• Within the last three years has not been a principal of a material advisor or a material consultant to the 
Company or another group member, or an employee materially associated with the service provided; 

• Is not a material supplier or customer of the company or other group member, or an officer of or 
otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer; 

• Has no contractual relationship with the company or another group member other than as a director of 
the Company; 

• Has not served on the Board for a period that could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere 
with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company; 

• Is free from any interest and any business or other relationship, which could or could reasonably be 
perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interest of the Company. 

Each independent director is required to regularly provide the Board with all information regarding his or her 
interests that are relevant to independence. 

1.6 Conflicts of interest 
In addition to any legal obligations, Directors are required to disclose to the Board details of any contract or 
other interest involving the company in which they have a personal interest. The Board will require that the 
Director: 

• Fully and frankly inform the Board about the circumstances giving rise to the conflict; and 
• Abstain from voting on any motion in relation to the matter and absenting himself or herself during 

any discussion, if required. 

1.7 Independent advice 
A Director is entitled to seek independent professional advice (including but not limited to legal, accounting 
and financial advice) at the company’s expense on any matter connected with the discharge of his or her 
responsibilities, in accordance with the procedures and subject to the conditions set out below: 

1. A Director must seek the prior approval of the chairman; 

2. The chairman may prescribe a reasonable limit on the amount that the company will contribute 
towards the cost of obtaining such advice; 

3. All documentation containing or seeking independent professional advice must clearly state that the 
advice is sought both in relation to the company and to the director in his or her personal capacity; 

4. The right to advice does not extend to advice concerning matters of a personal or private nature, 
including for example, matters relating to the director’s contract of employment with the company (in 
the case of an executive director) or any dispute between the director and the company; 

5. The chairman may determine that any advice received by an individual director will be circulated to 
the remainder of the Board. 

2. Board Committees 
The Board has delegated some of its responsibilities to Committees of the Board. These delegations are 
supported by appropriate controls, which are documented and approved by the Board. At the present time 
there are two such sub-committees and they are: 

• Audit Committee; and 
• Remuneration Committee 
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Corporate Governance Statement (Contd). 2. Board Committees (Contd) 
The Committees will comprise a majority of independent non-executive directors. The Chairpersons will be 
appointed by the Board. The Committees will hold at least two meetings per year.  
The minutes of all Board Committees are tabled and any recommendations are considered at the next Board 
meeting. All Board members are entitled to attend all Committee meetings. 

3. Audit Committee Charter 
Purpose
The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board to fulfil its corporate governance and supervisory 
responsibilities in relation to ensuring: 

• The adequacy and reliability of financial and management reporting; 
• External reporting complies with statutory, ASX and other requirements; 
• An effective and efficient audit is conducted; 
• Appropriate internal controls and procedures are established and adhered to; 
• Financial and business risks are properly managed. 

The Audit Committee operates principally as a review advisory body and makes recommendations to the 
Board. Management retains primary responsibility for the Company’s financial reporting, internal controls and 
risk management and the Board is the overseer of this function. 

Responsibilities 
The main responsibilities are listed below: 

• Review the half year report and full year report; 
• Review any other ASX financial reporting requirements eg Appendix 4C, Appendix 4D and 

Appendix 4E; 
• Review other publicly released financial information; 
• Assess the appropriateness of the Company’s external reporting eg accounting policies adopted; 
• Review related party transactions and their reporting; 
• Review internal control and risk management; 
• Review the external audit role. 

Membership 
The Board will appoint the members of the Audit Committee which should comprise: 

• A Non-Executive Chairperson; 
• At least two members; 
• Independent Directors;  
• Members who are financially literate 

Meetings
There should be at least two meetings of the Audit Committee per year and any additional meetings that the 
Chairman deems necessary. The Chairman will report the Committee recommendations to the Board after 
each meeting. Any Director is entitled to attend an Audit Committee meeting. 

4. Remuneration Committee Charter 
Purpose
The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to assist the Board to fulfil its corporate governance and 
supervisory responsibilities in relation to ensuring: 

• That the level and composition of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors and 
Executive employees is reasonable with regard to the state of development and performance of the 
company; 

• Remuneration policies attract, motivate and maintain talented Directors and employees; 
• That the remuneration policies are understood by investors. 

Responsibilities 
The Remuneration Committee reviews and develops the remuneration policies applicable to all Directors and 
Executive employees, and recommends their approval to the Board. The Remuneration Committee also 
reviews and approves recommendations on Executive remuneration packages, terms of employment and 
termination packages to the board. 
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Corporate Governance Statement (Contd). 4. Remuneration Committee Charter (Contd) 
Executive employees are defined as employees that have a total remuneration in excess of A$100,000 for 
Australia based staff and US$100,000 for overseas staff, on an annual basis. 

Remuneration packages include base salary, superannuation, fringe benefits, relocation allowances, incentive 
schemes (including performance-related bonuses and options) and other entitlements. 

The Remuneration Committee may seek the advice of external advisers in connection with the structure of 
remuneration packages. 

Membership 
The Board will appoint the members of the Remuneration Committee which should comprise: 

• A Non-Executive Chairperson; 
• At least two members; 
• The majority of the members are independent directors. 

Meetings
The Remuneration Committee will meet at least twice a year and be available at short notice to approve any 
change to employment conditions or approve the remuneration package offered to any new employee.  

5. Directors’ Code of Conduct 

The Board should promote ethical and responsible decision-making and this will require the Board to clarify 
the standards of ethical behaviour required from the Board members and the key executive staff.  The Board 
and executives will encourage all staff to comply. 

• A Director must at all times act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the company as a 
whole.  

• A Director has a duty to perform the functions of office and exercise the powers attached to that 
office with a degree of care and diligence that a reasonable person would exercise if they were a 
Director in the same circumstances. 

• A Director should consider matters before the Board having regard to: 
1. any possible material personal interest he or she may have in the subject matter; and  
2. the amount of information appropriate to properly consider the subject matter; and   
3. what is in the best interests of the company? 

• A Director must recognise that, in acting as a director of the company, his or her dominant purpose or 
object must be to serve the interests of the members of the company as a whole, not the interests of 
any particular group of directors or stakeholders or the Director's personal or commercial interests. In 
circumstances of insolvency or near insolvency, the duty to act in the best interests of members is 
overridden by a duty to act in the best interests of creditors. 

• A Director must not make improper use of information acquired as a director to gain a personal 
advantage or to cause detriment to the Company. 

• A Director must not take improper advantage of the position of director to gain a personal advantage 
or to cause detriment to the Company. 

• A Director must not place himself or herself in a position where there is a reasonable possibility of 
conflict between his or her personal or business interests, the interests of any associated person, or his 
or her duties to any other company, on the one hand, and the interests of the company or his or her 
duties to the company, on the other hand. The action which a Director will be required to take if he or 
she is faced with an actual or potential conflict of interest or duties in relation to a particular matter 
being considered by the Board will depend on the nature and circumstances of the conflict and may 
include any of the following: 
1. fully and frankly informing the Board about the circumstances giving rise to the conflict;   
2. abstaining from voting on any motion relating to the matter and absenting himself or herself from 

all board deliberations relating to the matter; or   
3. resigning from the Board. 

• If a Director believes that he or she may have a conflict of interest or duty in relation to a particular 
matter, the Director should consult with the Chairman. 
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Corporate Governance Statement (Contd). 5. Directors’ Code of Conduct (Contd) 
• A Director must bring an enquiring, open and independent mind to Board meetings, listen to the 

debate on each issue raised, consider the arguments for and against each motion and reach a decision 
that he or she believes to be in the best interests of the Company as a whole. 

• An opportunity must be provided for a Director to put his or her views on issues before the Board or a 
Committee on which he or she sits. While Directors must treat each other with courtesy and observe 
the other rules in this Code, Directors should be able to engage in vigorous debate on matters of 
principle. 

• Confidential information (including Board or committee papers) received by a Director in the course 
of the exercise of directorial duties remains the property of the company from which it was obtained 
and it is improper to disclose it, or allow it to be disclosed, unless that disclosure has been duly 
authorised by the company, or the person by whom the information was provided, or is required by 
law or by the Listing Rules. 

• A Director must not disclose the content of discussion at board meetings or committee meetings 
outside appropriate and responsible circles within the Company with a legitimate interest in the 
subject of the disclosure, unless that disclosure has been authorised by the company is required by 
law or by the ASX Listing Rules. 

• A Director generally must not engage in conduct or make any public statement likely to prejudice the 
company's business or likely to harm, defame or otherwise bring discredit upon or denigrate the 
Company, fellow directors or staff. A Director may make such a statement only if the Director 
believes in good faith that it is in the best interests of the Company as a whole to make such a 
statement. 

• A Director must, unless exempted by the Board, co-operate in corporate governance procedures 
prescribed by the Chairman including periodic appraisals of the performance of the Board conducted 
by the Chairman. 

• A Non-Executive Director must devote such time as is necessary to carry out the duties of the Non-
Executive Director as determined by the Chairman. 

• A Director has an obligation, at all times, to comply with the spirit, as well as the letter, of the law 
and of the principles of this code of conduct. 

6. Securities Trading Policy 

6.1 Purchase or Selling of Shares 
Staff and Directors can only trade in Sirtex Medical Ltd shares during the approved trading window. 

1. The trading window is defined as the period two days after and no later than 45 days after the 
company has released its annual or half yearly results to the market or held its AGM. 

2. At other such times as approved by the Board. 

If material information is known by a Director or member of staff during the trading window that has not been 
released to the market then no trading in Sirtex Medical shares should take place during the trading window. 

Any purchases or selling of shares by Directors must be notified to the company secretary and ASX within 4 
business days of the event occurring. 

6.2 Exercise of Options 
Staff and Directors can exercise options at any time. Any exercising of options by Directors must be notified 
to the Company Secretary and ASX within 4 business days of the event occurring. 

7. Continuous Disclosure Policy 

7.1 Disclosure obligations under ASX Listing Rules 
This disclosure policy is required to ensure that Sirtex complies with the premise that at all times the market in 
the Company’s securities should be a fully informed market.  The disclosure requirements must be complied 
with in accordance with their spirit, intention and purpose. 
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Corporate Governance Statement (Contd). 7.1. Disclosure Obligations under ASX Listing Rules(Contd)
Sirtex will comply with the listing rules of the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) as contained in Chapters 3 
and 4. In addition Sirtex will comply with the guidance notes issued by the ASX relating to use of the 
Company Announcement Platform. 

When required, Sirtex will make disclosure immediately. Disclosure is the responsibility of the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Board. 

Chapter 3 of the listing rules requires that price sensitive information must be disclosed. Price sensitive 
information is any information concerning the Company that a reasonable person would expect to have a 
material effect on the price or value of the Company’s securities. There is also a requirement to correct a false 
market. A false market refers to a market where securities are traded in the absence of price-sensitive 
information having been disclosed or where there is inaccurate or misleading information in the market. 

Chapter 4 of the listing rules sets out the periodic disclosure requirements and these fall within one of the 
following categories: 

• Annual and half yearly financial statements 
• Quarterly cash flow reports 
• Trading halts and related events 
• Information relating to the company’s securities. 

7.2 Review of ASX announcements 
1. All reasonable effort will be made to provide a draft of the intended ASX release to all Directors for 

review. The draft release will be provided with sufficient time to enable the recipients to make 
comment prior to the release. All ASX announcements must be approved by at least two Directors. 

2. All announcements must be brought to the attention of the Company Secretary prior to release to the 
ASX to ensure compliance with the listing rules. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for 
ensuring that any factual statements in the release have appropriate supporting documentation. The 
Company Secretary shall record the releases sequentially. 

3. The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and the Company Secretary are the only authorised 
signatories for ASX releases. 

4. All Directors must be provided with a copy of announcements as soon as practicable after the release. 
5. Copies of presentation materials given to brokers, institutions or other investors, when containing 

price sensitive information, will be released to the market prior to presentation. 

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are the nominated spokespersons for communications with 
brokers and the media. They are also responsible for monitoring media and requests from analysts for 
information. 

The Company website will be regularly updated with ASX releases. 

8. Risk Management Policy 
The purpose of the Risk Management Policy is to identify business risks, assess and quantify the risks and to 
develop and implement a response and monitor the risk to the company, its shareholders and employees. The 
Policy will be implemented to allow the company to address adverse occurrences which will optimise its 
opportunities for the benefit of the shareholders, employees and customers. 
Some of the potential risks to the company are: 

• Operational 
• Financial 
• Foreign exchange 
• Interest rate 
• Political 
• Legal and regulatory 
• Environmental 
• Health and safety 
• Medical
• Information technology 
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Corporate Governance Statement (Contd). 8. Risk Management Policy (Contd) 
8.1 Policy 
The Company is committed to identifying, evaluating and dealing with all real and potential risks to the 
company at regular intervals for the purpose of protecting the interests of the company, its shareholders, 
employees and customers and to ensure that the objectives of the company can be met, to mitigate risk and to 
increase the company’s competitive advantage. 

Risk Management is an integral part of all employee activities and is implemented throughout the 
organisation.  Management of risk is part of the company’s internal quality auditing process and staff training. 
Sirtex has implemented a regular internal review process for assessing and managing risk as part of the 
company’s commitment to quality management. 

8.2 Roles and Responsibilities 
Board
The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the company has an adequate and effective risk 
management system and that this system is reviewed at regular intervals. The Board approves the Risk 
Management Policy and receives reports from the Audit Committee on risk management issues. 

Board Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is the responsible committee for ensuring that risk management is implemented in 
accordance with Board Policy. The Audit Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive Member of the Board of 
Management. 

Management 
The Board, via the Audit Committee, delegates the operation of the Risk Management Policy to the Sirtex 
Executive Management. The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) has delegated responsibility to implement the 
Risk Management Policy within the company. 

The CEO will delegate responsibility to Heads of Departments or Sections for implementing the Risk 
Management Policy, relevant Standard Operating Procedures and recommendations arising from Risk 
Management Meetings. 

Employees 
Risk management is an important function for all Sirtex employees. Employees are required to be conversant 
with the company’s risk management policies, Standard Operating Procedures associated with risk 
management and their employment and to actively participate in risk management. 

9. Corporate Code of Conduct 
The Company wishes to build and maintain a reputation for its integrity. This reputation and integrity is the 
result of the actions of directors and employees in their dealings both within and outside the Company. 

The following objectives shall apply: 

We respect the law and act accordingly 
The objective is to comply with the laws of any jurisdiction where the company operates. 
Our interpretation of the law shall be in such a way that it enhances the Company’s reputation for fair and 
reasonable conduct at all times.  Some of the categories of law that the Company will encounter are: 

• Competition and Consumer Protection  
• Environmental  
• Privacy  
• Insider Trading 
• Occupational Health and Safety 
• Equal Opportunity 
• Confidentiality 
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Corporate Governance Statement (Contd). 9. Corporate Code Of Conduct (Contd) 
Conflicts of interest 
Conflicts of interest may arise from time to time. If a conflict arises immediate and full disclosure should be 
made to the Board and the Board shall manage the conflict so that the interests of the Company are 
safeguarded. Some examples of conflicts that may arise are: 

• When private interests conflict directly or indirectly with our obligations to the Company. 
• When we receive benefits (gifts, entertainment etc) from a person doing business or seeking to do 

business with the Company and the benefit could be seen to create some obligation to a party other 
than the Company. 

Use of Company assets  
The Company’s assets which include but are not limited to funds, information and equipment will be used 
responsibly and in the best interest of the Company. 

• Excessive benefits including but not limited to gifts, entertainment, travel and accommodation will 
not be provided to people associated with the Company or others. 

• The proprietary nature of the Company’s information will not be disclosed and confidentiality and 
commercially sensitive information will not be released to a third party without proper authorisation. 

• The Company’s assets will not be used for other than business purposes. 

Integrity, honesty and fairness in the Company’s dealings 

• We do not use misleading or oppressive behaviour or falsify or wrongfully withhold information to 
achieve a benefit for the Company or ourselves. 

• Confidential information obtained in the course of carrying out our business dealings remain the 
property of the party supplying the information and it is improper to disclose or allow it to be 
disclosed without the consent of that party or as required by law. 

• The Company operates in different jurisdictions with different laws, customs and business practices. 
We will recognise these but will not compromise our principles in our dealings in these areas. 

• We will treat all persons with dignity, regardless of individual differences. 
• We promote equality of employment opportunity. 
• We are responsible for our actions and accountable for the consequences. 

Structure of the Board 

Director
Year

Appointed
Non-

Executive Independent Executive Committees
     Remuneration Audit

Dr B. Gray 
Chairman

1997 No No Yes - - 

G. Boyce 2002 Yes Yes No Member Chairman 
C. Rowland 2003 No No Yes - - 
R. Hill 2004 Yes Yes No Member Member 
Dr J. Eady 2005 Yes Yes No Chairman - 
G. Wong 2005 No No Yes - - 

Compliance with ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice 
Recommendations 

1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
The Sirtex Board supports and has implemented this recommendation through the Board Charter and 
Corporate Governance Guidelines. 

2. Structure the board to add value 
During the year the Sirtex Board consisted of three executive and four independent directors, one resigning 
during the year. 
The role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer have been separated during 2005. Dr Bruce Gray, the 
company’s founding director previously held the position of Chairman & Chief Executive Officer.
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Corporate Governance Statement (Contd). 2. Structure Of The Board To Add Value (Contd) 
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board in its duties, facilitating effective discussions at Board 
meetings, ensuring procedures are in place to evaluate Board performance and overseeing shareholder 
communications. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the efficient and effective operation of the 
organisation, and for bringing material and other relevant matters to the attention of the Board in an accurate 
and timely manner. 

Due to its small size, Sirtex’s whole Board acts as a Nomination Committee. 

3. Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
The Sirtex Board supports and has implemented this recommendation through the Board Charter. 

4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
Sirtex supports the concept of an audit committee and has always had one whose members have been 
independent Directors. The Audit Committee members have regular contact with the company auditors 
including formal review following each audit and half-year review. 

5. Make timely and balanced disclosure 
The Sirtex Board supports this recommendation and has complied throughout 2005. 

6. Respect the rights of shareholders 
The Sirtex Board supports and has implemented this recommendation. 
Sirtex has adopted a shareholder communication approach that identifies disclosure and transparency as 
important qualities for shareholders and potential investors.  Sirtex aims to provide good quality, clear 
communication with shareholders, using available methods and technologies. 
Sirtex views shareholder meetings as an opportunity for shareholders to meet with and question the Board and 
management of Sirtex. Sirtex external auditor attends all annual general meetings and is available to answer 
shareholder questions. 
Sirtex website, www.sirtex.com, is a key source of information for shareholders and prospective shareholders. 
Sirtex places all company announcements on the site immediately following confirmation of release to the 
market. 

7. Recognise and manage risk 
Sirtex has in place a comprehensive quality system that is regularly audited by various regulatory bodies from 
around the world. Sirtex takes this responsibility seriously and has committed to put in place appropriate 
procedures for risk management. While the whole Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring the Company 
has an adequate and effective Risk Management Policy, the Board delegates to the Audit Committee to report 
on risk management issues. 

8. Encourage enhanced performance 
Sirtex Board Charter and Corporate Governance Guidelines document the process for evaluating the 
performance of the Board, individual Directors, Board Committees, the Chief Executive Officer and key 
Executives. The Remuneration Committee takes responsibility for assessing that the framework and processes 
used for conducting evaluations are appropriate and then makes recommendations to the Board in relation to 
performance of the Chief Executive Officer and other key Executives.  

9. Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
Sirtex supports this recommendation. A Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent Director and 
has been in place for the entire reporting period.

10. Recognise the legitimate interests of stakeholders 
The Sirtex Board supports and has implemented this recommendation. 
The Sirtex Board Charter and Corporate Governance Guidelines sets out the principles of code of conduct 
expected of all Sirtex Directors and employees. These guidelines also set the standard for Directors dealing 
with Sirtex obligations to external stakeholders. 
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Directors’ report
The directors of Sirtex Medical Ltd submit herewith the annual financial report of the company for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2005. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the 
directors report as follows: 

The names and particulars of the Directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Directors 
Name Particulars  
Dr B.Gray Executive Chairman. Resigned as Chief Executive Officer during 2005. Joined the 

Board in 1997. Founding director. Aged 63.  

Dr M. Panaccio

G. Boyce

C. Rowland 

R. Hill Appointed 1 September 2004 as Non-Executive Director. Previously holding 
senior executive positions with HSBC Investment Bank in Hong Kong and New 
York and has extensive experience in international M&A and Capital raising. 
Currently holds position as Chairman of Calliden Ltd (ASX listed) and Chairman 
of Insearch Ltd. He was also founding partner of Hill Young & Associates, 
corporate advisory firm. He is also an attorney of the New York State Bar. Aged 
59.

Dr J. Eady Appointed 1 March 2005 as Non-Executive Director. He has spent over 26 years 
with CRA and is a fellow of Australia’s Academy of Technological Sciences and 
Engineering. He is also an Adjunct Professor within RMIT University’s Graduate 
School of Business & previously sat on the Australian Federal Government’s 
Industry, Research & Development Board. Aged 60. 

G. Wong Appointed 1 March 2005 as Company Secretary, 26 May 2005 as Chief Executive 
Officer and 28 June 2005 as Executive Director. He previously held CEO and 
senior executive positions in the commercial and industry sector including 10 years 
with Email Limited. He has a strong planning and sales and marketing background. 
Aged 54. Resigned as Company Secretary on 26 July 2005.

Directorships of other listed companies 
Directorships of other listed companies held by directors in the 3 years immediately before the end of the 
financial year are as follows: 
Name Company  Period of directorship 
Dr J. Eady Ambri Limited October 2001-September 2003 
Dr J. Eady Gradipore Limited December 2002-October 2003 
Dr J. Eady Frigrite Limited March 2005- Present 
R. Hill Calliden Limited 2000 – Present 

Principal, Starfish Ventures Pty Limited, joined the Board in 1998. He previously 
held the position of Investment Manager with Nomura/ JAFCO Investment (Asia) 
Limited, a Singapore based venture capital firm. Aged 43. Resigned on 4 
November 2004.

Chartered accountant and the founder of Montrose Partners, a West Australian firm 
of chartered accountants, joined the board in 2002. He was a partner with Ernst & 
Young and worked in their Perth and New York offices. He has also served 
previously as Company Secretary for Sirtex. Aged 49.

Executive Director and President of Sirtex Medical Inc, joined the Board in 2003. 
He previously held a number of senior positions in the US medical device industry 
including 9 years with Baxter Healthcare. He has a Bachelor of Science and an 
MBA from the London Graduate School of Business. Aged 55.
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Directors’ Report (Contd) 
Company Secretary 
P. Manley Resigned 28/02/05. 
G. Wong Appointed 01/03/05 and resigned on 26/07/05. 
A. Talbot Appointed Company Secretary on 26/07/05. Chartered Accountant, aged 30, joined 

Sirtex Medical Ltd on 4 July 2005 and previously held the company secretary position 
at a medium sized manufacturing company. Member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia. 

Principal activities 
The consolidated entity’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were the research and 
development and commercialisation of treatments for liver cancer.

Review of operations 
The consolidated entity made a loss after tax of $1,442,000 for the year ended 30 June 2005 (2004: $697,000 
profit). Revenue from unit dose sales increased in both the USA and Europe, which resulted in sales revenue 
increasing by 24.3% (2004: decrease of 6.8%) to $11,830,000 (2004: $9,517,000). 
The primary focus for the financial year ended June 30, 2005 was to build infrastructure around the world to 
support growth in the company’s major markets, North America and Europe. In an effort to achieve this goal, 
during the financial year, Sirtex completed the installation and fit-out of a purpose built manufacturing facility 
in Wilmington, Massachusetts. This site is now ready for commissioning and further regulatory and licensing 
approvals are being sought in order to commence production in Calendar year 2006. 
Further details may be found by reference to the Chairman’s report.

Changes in state of affairs 
During the financial year there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity other 
than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

Subsequent events 
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes 
thereto, that has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity in future financial years. 

Future developments 
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity in future 
financial years and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
consolidated entity. Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in this report. 

Environmental regulations
The consolidated entity is in compliance with all environmental regulations.

Dividends 
No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the financial year and the Directors do not 
recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the financial year (2004: $Nil).

Share options 
Share options granted to Directors and Executives 
During and since the end of the financial year an aggregate of 500,000 share options at an exercise price of 
$4.85 were granted to the following directors and executives of the company: 

Directors and Executives 
Number of options 

granted Issuing entity 
Number of ordinary shares 

under option 

Dr B. Gray (Chairman) 400,000 Sirtex Medical Ltd 514,000
G. Boyce 100,000 Sirtex Medical Ltd 100,000
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Directors’ Report (Contd). Share Options (Contd) 

Share options on issue at year end or exercised during the year 
Details of unissued shares or interests under option are: 

Issuing entity 
Number of shares 

under option 
Class of 
shares 

Exercise price 
of option Expiry date of options 

(a) Executive and Employee Share 
Option Plan 

Sirtex Medical Ltd 23,000 ORD 1.26 25/07/06 
Sirtex Medical Ltd 180,000 ORD 1.68 05/07/07 
Sirtex Medical Ltd 200,000 ORD 4.85 30/09/08 
     

Issuing entity 
Number of shares 

under option 
Class of 
shares 

Exercise price 
of option Expiry date of options 

 (b)   Other Share Options
Sirtex Medical Ltd 500,000 ORD 4.85 19/11/06 
Sirtex Medical Ltd 174,308 ORD 1.00 23/08/05 
Sirtex Medical Ltd 20,000 ORD 1.25 06/05/07 
All options are unlisted 

Details of shares or interests issued during the financial year as a result of exercise of an option are: 

Issuing entity 
Number of shares 

issued 
Class of 
shares 

Amount paid for 
shares 

Amount unpaid on 
shares 

Sirtex Medical Ltd 15,077 ORD    1.00 -
Sirtex Medical Ltd 30,000 ORD 1.26 -

Indemnification of officers and auditors 
During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the 
Company (as named above), the Company Secretary and all Executive officers of the Company and of any 
related body corporate against a liability incurred as such a Director, Secretary or Executive officer to the 
extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of 
the liability and the amount of the premium. 

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or made a relevant agreement 
to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred 
as such an officer or auditor.  

Directors’ meetings  

Board of Directors Remuneration Committee Audit Committee 
Directors Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended 

Dr B. Gray (Chairman) 10 10 - - - -
Dr M. Panaccio 3 3 3 3 4 4
C. Rowland 10 10 - - - -
G. Boyce 10 10 4 4 7 7
R. Hill 10 10 1 1 3 3
Dr J. Eady 4 4 1 1 - -
G. Wong 1 1 - - - -

The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of Committees of 
Directors) held during the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each Director (while they 
were a Director or Committee member). During the financial year, 10 Board meetings, 7 Audit Committee 
meetings and 4 Remuneration Committee meeting were held. 
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Directors’ Report (Contd) 
Directors’ shareholdings  
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in shares, debentures, and rights or options in 
shares or debentures of the company or a related body corporate as at the date of this report. 

Directors 

2005
Fully Paid  

Ordinary Shares

2005
Director & Executive 

Share 
Options

2004
Fully Paid  

Ordinary Shares

2004
Director & Executive  

Share 
Options

Dr B. Gray (Chairman) 17,308,283 514,000 17,208,283 114,000
C. Rowland 112,000 180,000 112,000 180,000
G. Boyce 5,000 100,000 5,000 -
R. Hill - - - -
Dr J. Eady - - - -
G. Wong - - - -

Remuneration report 
Remuneration policy for directors and executives 

The Remuneration Committee reviews and develops the remuneration policies applicable to all Directors and 
any Executive officers, and recommends their approval to the Board. The Remuneration Committee also 
reviews and approves recommendations on Executive remuneration packages, terms of employment and 
termination packages to the board. The Remuneration Committee reviews the remuneration packages of all 
Directors and any Executive officers earning greater than $100,000 and any overseas Executives officers 
earning greater than USD100,000 on an annual basis and makes recommendations to the board. Remuneration 
packages are reviewed with due regard to performance and other relevant factors.  

In order to retain and attract Executives of sufficient calibre to facilitate the efficient and effective 
management of the company’s operations, the Remuneration Committee seeks the advice of external advisers 
in connection with the structure of remuneration packages. 

Director and Executive details 

The Directors of Sirtex Medical Ltd during the year were: 
• Dr B. Gray (Chairman, Executive) 
• Dr M. Panaccio (Non-Executive), Resigned 4 November 2004 
• G. Boyce (Non-Executive) 
• C. Rowland (President of Sirtex Medical Inc) 
• R. Hill (Non-Executive), Appointed 1 September 2004 
• Dr J. Eady (Non-Executive), Appointed 1 March 2005 
• G. Wong (Chief Executive Officer), Appointed CEO on 26 May 2005 and appointed Director on 28 

June 2005 

The group Executives of Sirtex Medical Ltd during the year were: 
• P. Manley (Financial Controller & Company Secretary), resigned 28 February 2005 
• N. Lange (Chief Executive Officer Sirtex Medical Europe GmbH) 
• Dr D. James (Operations Manager) 
• Dr M. Van Den Berg (Sales & Marketing Manager) 
• Dr S. Jones (Research & Development Manager) 

Elements of director and executive remuneration 

Remuneration packages contain the following key elements: 
• Primary benefits  salary/fees, bonuses and non monetary benefits including the provision of motor 

vehicles and health benefits; 

• Post-employment benefits – including superannuation and prescribed retirement benefits; 

• Equity  share options granted under the employee and executive share option plan as disclosed in note 5 
to the financial statements; and 

• Other benefits. 
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Directors’ Report (Contd). Elements Of Director and Executive Remuneration (Contd) 
The following table discloses the remuneration of the Directors of the company: 

Primary Post-employment Equity 
Salary & 

fees 
Bonus Non-

monetary 
Super-

annuation 
Pre- 

scribed 
benefits 

Other Options 
Other  

benefits 
Total 

2005 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Executive 
Directors 
Dr B. Gray 183,486 - - 16,514 - - 170,147 - 370,147
C. Rowland 201,686 - 6,574 - - - 31,897 - 240,157
G. Wong(i) 20,192 - - 1,817 - - - - 22,009

Non-Executive 
Directors 
Dr M. Panaccio 7,500 - - - - - - - 7,500
G. Boyce 30,000 - - - - - 42,537 - 72,537
R. Hill 25,000 - - - - - - - 25,000
Dr J. Eady 9,174 - - 826 - - - - 10,000
(i) Sirtex Medical Ltd paid consulting fees of $90,450 (excl GST)  to Executive Leasing Australia Pty Ltd  for G Wong services for the period 16/02/05 to 24/05/05.

500,000 Options were granted to Directors during the financial year as follows;  

• Dr B Gray – 80% and  

• G. Boyce – 20%. 

The minimum value of the options granted during the financial year to Dr B Gray was $Nil and maximum 
$219,600.

The minimum value of the options granted during the financial year to G. Boyce was $Nil and maximum 
$54,900.

The following table discloses the remuneration of the 5 highest remunerated Executives of the Company and 
group Executives of the consolidated entity: 

Primary Post-employment Equity 
Salary & 

fees 
Bonus Non-

monetary 
Super-

annuatio
n

Pre- 
scribed 
benefit

s

Other Options 
Other  

benefits 
Total 

2005 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Dr D. James 99,412 - 13,950 8,947 - - 268 - 122,577
Dr S. Jones 109,266 - - 9,834 - - 54 2,172 121,326
N. Lange 371,974 - 57,841 - - - 208,962 - 638,777
Dr M.Van Den Berg 115,741 - - 10,417 - - - - 126,158
P. Manley(ii) 79,335 6,185 12,594 6,596 - - - - 104,710
(ii) Resigned on 28/02/05.

Elements of remuneration related to performance

G. Wong’s remuneration has the following performance based elements: 
• Annual Bonus available up to 25% of base salary; and  
• Up to further 15% of base salary at the discretion of the Board. 

With the exception of G. Wong as noted above, all other Directors’ remuneration does not include 
performance-based elements. 
100% of Executive remuneration does not include performance-based elements. 

Value of Options issued to Directors and Executives 
The following table discloses the value of options granted, exercised or lapsed during the year:  

Options 
Granted 

Options 
Exercised 

Options 
Lapsed 

Value at 
grant date 

$

Value at 
exercise date 

$

Value at 
time of 
lapse 

$

Total value of 
options granted, 

exercised and 
lapsed

$

Value of options 
included in 

remuneration for 
the year 

$

Percentage 
of total 

remuneration for 
the year 

that consists of 
options 

%
Dr B. Gray 219,600 - - 219,600 170,147 45.97%
G Boyce 54,900 - - 54,900 42,537 58.64%
C Rowland 234,000 59,400 - 293,400 31,897 13.28%
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Directors’ Report (Contd). Elements Of Director and Executive Remuneration (Contd) 
Options 
Granted 

Options 
Exercised 

Options 
Lapsed 

Value at 
grant date 

$

Value at 
exercise date 

$

Value at 
time of 
lapse 

$

Total value of 
options granted, 

exercised and 
lapsed

$

Value of options 
included in 

remuneration for 
the year 

$

Percentage 
of total 

remuneration for 
the year 

that consists of 
options 

%

Executives 
N Lange 557,200 - - 557,200 208,962 32.71%
S Jones 3,765 - - 3,765 54 0.04%
D James 18,825 28,000 - 46,825 268 0.22%
P. Manley - 28,800 - 28,800 - -

Value of Options – Basis of calculation 
(1) Options granted during the year were granted on 04/11/04. 

(2) Options exercised during the year were granted on 26/07/01. 

(3) Options exercised during the year were granted on 24/08/00. 

(4) The total value of Options granted, exercised and lapsed is calculated based on the following: 

Fair value of the Option at grant date multiplied by the number of options granted during the year; plus 

Fair value of the Option at the time it is exercised multiplied by the number of Options exercised during the 
year; plus 

Fair value of the Option at the time of lapse multiplied by the number of Options lapsed during the year. 

Non-audit services  
The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor (or by 
another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the 
auditor are outlined in note 6 to the financial statements. 

Auditor’s independence declaration 

Rounding off of amounts 
The company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in 
accordance with that Class Order amounts in the directors’ report and the financial report are rounded off to 
the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 
2001.
On behalf of the Directors 

Bruce N Gray                                                                          
Director 

Gilman E Wong 
Director 
Sydney, August 31, 2005 

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 23 of the financial report. 



23

Sirtex Medical Limited



24

26 to 55



25



26

Sirtex Medical Ltd
Directors Declaration

Directors’ declaration 
The Directors declare that: 

(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable;  

(b) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view 
of the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity; and 

(c) the Directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 
2001.

On behalf of the Directors 

Bruce N Gray 
Director 

Gilman E Wong 
Director 

Sydney, August 31, 2005 
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Statement of financial performance for the
financial year ended 30 June 2005 
  Consolidated  Company 

Note  
2005
$’000 

2004
$’000  

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Revenue from the sales of goods  11,830 9,517 - -
Cost of sales (2,979) (2,599) - -

Gross profit 8,851 6,918 - -
Other revenue from ordinary activities 729 552 2,680 2,879
Depreciation & Amortisation (370) (299) (310) (271) 
Marketing expenses (6,355) (4,681) (83) (1,280) 
Research Expenditure (520) (464) (530) (540) 
Occupancy expenses (269) (417) (146) (348) 
Regulatory Expenses (130) (245) (120) (187) 
Quality Assurance (50) (127) (49) (127) 
Clinical Trials (425) (365) (406) (338) 
Administration expenses (2,408) (1,475) (1,789) (1,059) 
Other expenses from ordinary activities (483) (14) (369) (309) 

Loss from ordinary activities before income 
tax expense 2 (1,430) (617)  (1,122) (1,580) 
Income tax (expense)/benefit relating to 
ordinary activities 3 (12) 1,314 (732) (142) 

Net (Loss)/ profit attributable to members of 
the parent entity (1,442) 697 (1,854) (1,722) 

Total changes in equity other than those 
resulting from transactions with owners as 
owners (1,442) 697 (1,854) (1,722) 

       

   
2005

Cents 
2004

Cents    
Earnings per share       
Basic (cents per share) 26 (2.6) 1.3    

Diluted (cents per share) 26 (2.6) 1.3    

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 30 to 55. 
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2005 
   Consolidated  Company 

Note  
2005
$’000 

2004
$’000  

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Current assets   
Cash assets   1,314 2,271 186 139
Receivables 7  3,890 2,581 3,226 2,323
Inventories 9  121 127 - -
Other financial assets 10  5,583 7,983 5,583 7,983
Current tax assets 8  18 397 18 8

Total current assets 10,926 13,359 9,013 10,453

Non-current assets 
Investments  11  - - 41 42
Property, plant and equipment 12  3,176 1,918 685 274
Intangibles 13  2,134 2,314 2,134 2,314
Deferred tax assets 14  3,776 3,200 916 1,607

Total non-current assets 9,086 7,432 3,776 4,237

Total assets 20,012 20,791 12,789 14,690

Current liabilities 
Payables 15  1,802 1,245 1,733 1,861
Interest-Bearing Liabilities 16  84 27 - -
Current tax liabilities 17  275 48 51 -
Provisions 18  149 181 94 95
Other 19  - 34 - 34

Total current liabilities 2,310 1,535 1,878 1,990

Non-current liabilities 
Interest-Bearing liabilities 20  858 1,042 - -
Provisions 21  63 44 50 38

Total non-current liabilities 921 1,086 50 38

Total liabilities 3,231 2,621 1,928 2,028

Net assets 16,781 18,170 10,861 12,662

Equity 
Contributed equity 24  23,013 22,960 23,013 22,960
Accumulated Losses 25  (6,232) (4,790)  (12,152) (10,298) 

Total equity 16,781 18,170 10,861 12,662

     
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 30 to 55. 
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Sirtex Medical Ltd
Statement of Cash flows

Statement of cash flows
for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 

 Consolidated  Company 

Note  
2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Receipts from customers 9,918 10,150 849 451
Payments to suppliers and employees (12,197) (10,515)  (3,119) (3,071) 
Interest and bill discounts received 490 534 408 511
Interest and other costs of finance paid  (46) - (3) -
Income tax paid - (777)  - -
Net cash used in operating activities                    34(d) (1,835) (608)  (1,865) (2,109) 
Cash flows from investing activities 
Payment for property, plant and equipment (1,448) (1,615)  (541) (86) 
Payment for Investment in subsidiary  - - - (42) 
Net cash used in investing activities (1,448) (1,615)  (541) (128) 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from issues of equity securities  53 1,180 53 1,180
Proceeds from borrowings  - 1,069 - -
Repayment of borrowings  (127) - - -
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (74) 2,249 53 1,180
Net (decrease)/increase in cash held (3,357) 26 (2,353) (1,057) 
Cash at the beginning of the financial year 10,171 10,140 8,039 9,096
Effects of exchange rate changes on the 
balance of cash held in foreign currencies - 5 -
Cash at the end of the financial year 34(a) 6,814 10,171 5,686 8,039

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 30 to 55. 
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Sirtex Medical Ltd
Notes to the financial statements 

For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005

1. Summary of accounting policies 

Financial reporting framework 
The financial report is a general-purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views, and 
complies with other requirements of the law. 

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost and except where stated, does not 
take into account changing money values or current valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on 
the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 

Significant accounting policies 
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of 
the underlying transactions or other events is reported. 

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of 
the financial report. 

(a) Accounts payable 
Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the consolidated entity 
becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. 

(b) Acquisition of Assets 
Assets acquired are recorded at the cost of acquisition, being the purchase consideration 
determined as at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition. 

In the event that settlement of all or part of the cash consideration given in the acquisition of an 
asset is deferred, the fair value of the purchase consideration is determined by discounting the 
amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of acquisition. 

(c) Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but 
excluding land and investment properties.  Depreciation is calculated on a reducing balance 
basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life.  The following 
estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 

Buildings 40 years 

Plant and equipment 2-5 years

(d) Employee benefits 
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual 
leave and long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are 
capable of being measured reliably. 

Provisions made in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and other employee entitlements 
expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

Provisions made in respect of other employee benefits that are not expected to be settled within 
12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made 
by the consolidated entity in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

(e) Financial Instruments Issued by the Company 
Debt and Equity Instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Transaction Costs on the Issue of Equity Instruments
Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as 
a reduction of the proceeds of the equity instruments to which the costs relate.  Transaction 
costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of those equity 
instruments and which would not have been incurred had those instruments not been issued.
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Sirtex Medical Ltd
Notes to the financial statements 

For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005

1. Summary of accounting policies (Contd) 

(e) Financial Instruments Issued by the Company (Contd) 

Interest and Dividends
Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the 
statement of financial position classification of the related debt or equity instruments or 
component parts of compound instruments.

(f) Foreign Currency 
Foreign Currency Transactions
All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the 
exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction.  Foreign currency monetary items at 
reporting date are translated at the exchange rate existing at that date. 

Exchange differences are recognised in the net profit and loss in the period in which they arise 
except that: 

(i) exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use are 
included in the cost of those assets; and 

(ii) exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge the purchase or sale of 
specific goods and services are deferred and included in the measurement of the purchase or 
sale.

Foreign Operations
Financial statements of integrated foreign operations are translated at reporting date using the 
temporal method and exchange differences are taken to net profit or loss for the period.

(g) Goods and services Tax 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST), except: 

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST component 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

(h) Intangibles 
Intellectual property is amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 20 years. 

(i) Income Tax 
Tax-effect accounting principles are adopted whereby income tax expense is calculated on pre-
tax accounting profits after adjustment for permanent differences.  The tax-effect of timing 
differences, which occur when items are included or allowed for income tax purposes in a 
period different to that for accounting, is shown at current taxation rates in provision for 
deferred income tax and future income tax benefit, as applicable. 

In the prior year, the directors elected that the company and all its wholly-owned Australian 
resident entities would join a tax consolidated group. As a result, all income tax expenses, 
revenues, assets and liabilities of the members of the tax consolidated group are recognised in 
the financial statements of the parent entity.

(j) Interest Bearing Liabilities 
Bank loans and other loans are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received. 
Interest expense is recognised on an accruals basis. 
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Sirtex Medical Ltd
Notes to the financial statements 

For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005

1. Summary of accounting policies (Contd) 

(k) Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs, including an 
appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand 
by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being 
valued on a weighted average basis.

(l) Investments 
Investments in controlled entities are recorded at cost. 

Other investments are recorded at cost. 

Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis.

(m) Leased Assets 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a basis, which reflects the pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

Lease Incentives
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into non-cancellable operating leases, such 
incentives are recognised as a liability.  Lease payments are allocated between rental expense, 
reduction of the liability and, where appropriate, interest expense over the term of the lease.

(n) Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all 
the entities that comprise the consolidated entity, being the company (the parent entity) and its 
controlled entities as defined in accounting standard AASB 1024 “Consolidated Accounts”.  A 
list of controlled entities appears in note 31 to the financial statements.  Consistent accounting 
policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each controlled 
entity from the date on which the company obtains control and until such time as the company 
ceases to control such entity. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, 
and unrealised profits arising within the consolidated entity are eliminated in full.

(o) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present obligation, the future 
sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured 
reliably. 

Where some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is probable that 
recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

(p) Receivables 
Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any allowance for 
doubtful debts. 

Bills of exchange are recorded at cost, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.
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Sirtex Medical Ltd
Notes to the financial statements 

For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005

1. Summary of accounting policies (Contd) 

(q) Recoverable Amount of Non-Current Assets 
Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount where the carrying value of any non-
current asset exceeds recoverable amount.  In determining the recoverable amount of non-current 
assets, the expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present value.

(r) Research and Development Costs 
Research and development costs are recognised as an expense when incurred, except to the extent 
that such costs, together with unamortised deferred costs in relation to that project, are expected, 
beyond any reasonable doubt, to be recoverable.

(s) Revenue Recognition 
Sale of Goods and Disposal of Assets
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when the consolidated 
entity has passed control of the goods or other assets to the buyer. 

License and Management Fees
License fees and management fees between related entities are recognised on an accrual basis in 
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements. 

Interest
Interest revenue is recognised on an accrual basis. 

Liabilities Forgiven
The gross amount of a liability forgiven by a credit provider is recognised as revenue. 

Grant Income

Government grant income is recognised under an accrual basis when Sirtex is entitled to receive 
the revenue.
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Sirtex Medical Ltd
Notes to the financial statements 

For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005

   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$’000 
2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2. Loss from ordinary activities

Loss from ordinary activities before income tax 
includes the following items of revenue and expense: 
(a) Operating revenue  

Revenue from the sale of goods 11,830 9,517 - -
Rental revenue: 

Operating lease rental revenue 24 20 - 20
Other Revenue: 

Government Grant 197 24 197 24
License and Management Fees - - 1,966 2,252

Interest revenue: 
Wholly-owned controlled entities - - - 23
Other entities 490 500 408 458

Net foreign exchange gain: - - 32 94
Other  18 8 77 8

12,559 10,069 2,680 2,879

(b) Expenses 
Cost of sales  2,979 2,599 - -
Net bad and doubtful debts arising from: 

Wholly-owned controlled entities - - - 1,051
Other entities 164 229 - -

Depreciation of non-current assets: 
Property, plant and equipment 190 118 130 90

Amortisation of non-current assets: 
Other Intangibles 180 181 180 181

Operating lease rental expenses: 
Minimum lease payments 269 304 146 264

Net Transfers to provisions: 
Other: 

Employee 22 46 11 15
Net foreign exchange loss  190 54 - -
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Sirtex Medical Ltd
Notes to the financial statements 

For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005

   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$’000 
2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

3. Income Tax 

(a) The prima facie income tax (benefit)/expense 
on pre-tax accounting loss reconciles to the 
income tax (benefit)/expense in the financial 
statements as follows: 
Loss from ordinary activities (1,430) (617)  (1,122) (1,580) 

Income tax benefit calculated at 30%  (429) (185)  (337) (474) 

Permanent differences:
Amortisation of intangible assets 54 54 54 54
Non-deductible expenses 1 1 2 -
Tax Deductible items (69) (69)  (69) (69) 
Research and development (30) (18)  (30) (18) 
Effect of higher tax rates of tax on overseas 
income (193) (167)  - -
Effect on Foreign Currency translation of tax 
balances 70 22 - -
Recognition of timing differences and tax 
losses not previously bought to account as a 
result of overseas entities converting from cash 
basis to accruals basis - (1,181)  - -
Timing differences and tax losses previously 
brought to account no longer recognised - 118 - 118
Timing differences and tax losses not brought 
to account as future income tax benefits 
(footnote (b)) 608 222 - -
Impact of the tax consolidation system: 
Initial recognition of deferred tax balances of 
subsidiaries on implementation of the tax 
consolidation system - (111)  - (111) 
Current and deferred taxes relating to 
transactions, events and balances of wholly-
owned subsidiaries in the tax consolidated 
group - - 1,112 642

Income tax expense/(benefit) relating to 
ordinary activities 12 (1,314)  732 142

(b) Future income tax benefits not brought to 
account as assets: (footnote b) 
Tax losses – revenue 1,066 458 - -
Tax losses – capital - - - -
Timing differences - - - -

1,066 458 - -

The taxation benefits of tax losses and timing differences not brought to account will only be obtained if: 
(i) assessable income is derived of a nature and of amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions to 

be realised; 
(ii) conditions for deductibility imposed by the law are complied with; and 
(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the realisation of the benefit from the deductions. 

Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$’000 
2004
$’000  

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

(c) Franking Account 
(i) Franking Account Balance - - - -



36

Sirtex Medical Ltd
Notes to the financial statements 

For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005

3. Income Tax (Contd). Tax Consolidation 
Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its Australian resident wholly-owned entities, to elect to 
consolidate and be treated as a single entity for income tax purposes was substantively enacted on 21 October 2002. This 
legislation, which includes both mandatory and elective elements, is applicable to the company. The directors elected for 
those entities within the consolidated entity that are wholly-owned Australian resident entities to be taxed as single entity 
from 1 July 2003. The implementation of the tax consolidation system was notified to the Australian Tax Office. The head 
entity within the tax-consolidated group for the purposes of the tax consolidation system is Sirtex Medical Limited. 

4. Directors’ and Executives’ remuneration  

The specified Directors of Sirtex Medical Ltd during the year were: 
• Dr Bruce Gray (Chairman and Executive Director), resigned as Chief Executive Officer 26 May 2005. 
• Dr Michael Panaccio (Non-Executive director), Resigned 4 November 2004.

• Grant Boyce (Non-Executive director). 

• Charles Rowland (Executive Director, President Sirtex Medical Inc). 

• Richard Hill (Non-Executive Director), Appointed 1 September 2004. 
• Dr John Eady (Non-Executive Director), Appointed 1 March 2005. 
• Gilman Wong (Chief Executive Officer), Appointed CEO on 26 May 2005 and Director on 28 June 2005. 

The specified Executives of Sirtex Medical Ltd during the year were: 

• Nigel Lange (CEO Sirtex Medical Europe GmbH). 

• Peter Manley (Financial controller, Company Secretary), Resigned 27 January 2005. 

• Dr David James (Operations Manager). 

• Dr Marius Van Den Berg (Sales & Marketing Manager). 

• Dr Stephen Jones (Research & Development Manager). 
Specified Directors’ and specified Executives’ remuneration 

The remuneration committee reviews the remuneration packages of all specified Directors and specified Executives earning 
greater than $100,000 and specified overseas executives earning greater than USD100,000 on an annual basis and makes 
recommendations to the Board. Remuneration packages are reviewed and determined with due regard to current market 
rates and are benchmarked against comparable industry salaries, adjusted by a performance factor to reflect changes in 
performance of both the individual and the Company . 

Specified Directors’ remuneration
Primary Post-employment Equity* 

Salary & 
fees 

Bonus Non-
mone-
tary 

Super-
annu-
ation 

Pre- 
scribed 
benefits 

Other Options 
Other  
bene-
fits* 

Total 

2005 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Dr Bruce Gray  183,486 - - 16,514 - - 170,147 - 370,147

Dr Michael Panaccio  7,500 - - - - - - - 7,500

Grant Boyce  30,000 - - - - - 42,537 - 72,537

Charles Rowland  201,686 - 6,574 - - - 31,897 - 240,157

Richard Hill  25,000 - - - - - - - 25,000

Dr John Eady      9,174 - - 826 - - - - 10,000

Gilman Wong(i) 20,192 - - 1,817 - - - - 22,009

477,038 - 6,574 19,157 - - 244,581 - 747,350
(i) Sirtex Medical Ltd paid consulting fees of $90,450 (excl GST)  to Executive Leasing Australia Pty Ltd  for G Wong services for the period 16/02/05 to 24/05/05.

Primary Post-employment Equity* 
Salary & 

fees 
Bonus Non-

mone-
tary 

Super-
annu-
ation 

Pre- 
scribed 
benefits 

Other Options 
Other  
bene-
fits* 

Total 

2004 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Dr Bruce Gray  182,955 - - 16,466 - - - - 199,421

Dr Michael Panaccio  30,000 - - - - - - - 30,000

Grant Boyce  30,000 - - - - - - - 30,000

Charles Rowland  201,494 30,684 - - - - 70,798 - 302,976

Colin Sutton - - - 33,000 117,000 - - - 150,000

Dr John Eady  - - - - - - - - -

Gilman Wong  - - - - - - - - -

444,449 30,684 - 49,466 117,000 - 70,798 - 712,397
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Sirtex Medical Ltd
Notes to the financial statements 

For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005

4. Directors’ and Executives’ remuneration (contd) 

Specified Executives’ remuneration 
Primary Post-employment Equity* 

Salary & 
fees 

Bonus Non-
mone-
tary 

Super-
annu-
ation 

Pre- 
scribed 
benefit

s

Other Options 
Other  
bene-
fits* 

Total 

2005 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Nigel Lange 371,974 - 57,841 - - - 208,962 - 638,777

Peter Manley  79,335 6,185 12,594 6,596 - - - - 104,710

Dr David James  99,412 - 13,950 8,947 - - 268 - 122,577

Dr Marius Van Den 
Berg  

115,741 - - 10,417 - - - - 126,158

Dr Stephen Jones  109,266 - - 9,834 - - 54 2,172 121,326

775,728 6,185 84,385 35,794 - - 209,284 2,172 1,113,548

Primary Post-employment Equity* 
Salary & 

fees 
Bonus Non-

mone-
tary 

Super-
annu-
ation 

Pre- 
scribed 
benefit

s

Other Options 
Other  
bene-
fits* 

Total 

2004 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Mr Nigel Lange  254,779 71,963 50,229 - - - 187,950 - 564,921

Mr Peter Manley  104,601 - 24,666 9,414 - - 7,931 - 146,612

Dr David James  100,396 - 25,888 8,668 - - 3,965 - 138,917

Dr Marius Van Den 
Berg  

115,740 8,000 - 10,416 - - - - 134,156

Ms Heather Winslade  24,268 - - 2,184 - - - - 26,452

599,784 79,963 100,783 30,682 - - 199,846 - 1,011,058

.

Contracts for services 

Dr Bruce Gray (Chairman) Reviewed annually by Remuneration Committee. No change in 2005. 
400,000 options with exercise price $4.85 with 2-year expiry were issued at 
AGM on 4 November 2004.

Dr Michael Panaccio 
(Non-executive Director) 

Retired 4 November 2004.

Grant Boyce  
(Non-executive Director) 

Reviewed annually by Remuneration Committee. No change in 2005. 
100,000 options with exercise price $4.85 with 2 year expiry were issued at 
the AGM on 4 November 2004. 

Richard Hill 
(Non-executive Director) 

Appointed 1 September 2004. Remuneration Committee reviews 
remuneration package annually assessing personal and company 
performance and other relevant factors. No additional terms of contract. 

Dr John Eady 
(Non-executive Director) 

Appointed 1 March 2005. Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration 
package annually assessing personal and company performance and other 
relevant factors. No additional terms of contract. 

Gilman Wong 
(Executive Director 
Chief Executive Officer) 

Appointed 26 May 2005 as CEO and appointed Executive Director on 28 
June 2005. Salary agreed $250,000 inclusive super and other benefits. 
Annual Bonus available up to 25% of base salary and up to further 15% of 
base salary at discretion of Board. Remuneration Committee will review 
remuneration package each year against personal and company performance 
and other relevant factors.

Charles Rowland 
(Executive Director 
President, Sirtex Medical Inc) 

Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually assessing 
personal and company performance and other relevant factors. No additional 
terms of contract



38

Sirtex Medical Ltd
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For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005

4. Directors’ and executives’ remuneration (Contd) 

Dr David James 
(Operations Manager) 

Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually 
assessing personal and company performance and other relevant factors. 
No additional terms of contract.

Nigel Lange 
(CEO, Sirtex Medical Europe 
GmbH) 

Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually 
assessing personal and company performance and other relevant factors. 
No additional terms of contract.

Peter Manley 
(Financial Controller/ Company 
Secretary)  

Resigned 27 January 2005.

Dr Marius Van Den Berg 
(Sales and Marketing Director) 

Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually 
assessing personal and company performance and other relevant factors. 
No additional terms of contract. 

Dr Stephen Jones 
(Research and development 
Manager)

Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually 
assessing personal and company performance and other relevant factors. 
No additional terms of contract. 

5. Share Options 

(a) Executive and Employee Share Option Plan 

Sirtex Medical Ltd has in place an Executive and Employee Share Option Plan. 
Under the terms of the plan the Board may, at its absolute discretion, declare that an employee or Executive of 
the Company is an eligible employee and declare that any other person is eligible to participate in the Plan. 

The Board has absolute discretion over the number of options offered to an eligible person subject to the 
condition that the total number of unexercised options granted under the Plan plus any shares which have been 
issued on the exercise of the options granted under this Plan during the preceding five years shall not exceed 5 
percent of the total number of issued shares of the Company at the date of issue of any option. 

The exercise price is subject to the discretion of the Board and shall be equal to or greater than the market 
price on the grant date. Eligible employees will only be eligible to exercise the option whilst in the 
employment of the Company. 

In accordance with the terms of the Executive & Employee Share Scheme, options vest 10% after 1 year, 30% 
after 2 years and 60% after 3 years.

In accordance with the terms of the Executive & Employee Share Option Scheme, options may be exercised at 
any time from the date of vesting to the date of their expiry.

      2005 2004
      No. No. 

Balance at beginning of the financial year (i) 433,000 330,000
Granted during the financial year (ii) - 200,000
Exercised during the financial year (iii) (30,000) (70,000)
Lapsed during the financial year (iv) - (27,000)
Balance at end of the financial year (v) 403,000 433,000

(i)  Balance at beginning of the financial year  

Options – Series 
No. Grant date 

Expiry/ 
exercise date 

Exercise 
price  

$

Options - Series 
(1) Issued 26 July 2001  53,000 26/07/01 25/07/06 1.26
(2) Issued 6 March 2002  180,000 06/07/02 05/07/07 1.68
(9) Issued 1 October 2003  200,000 01/10/03 30/09/08 4.85

433,000    
       

Executive & employee share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. 
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5. Share Options (contd) 

(a) Executive and Employee Share Option Plan (Contd)

(ii)  Granted during the financial year 

No options were granted during the financial year 2005. 

2004
Options – Series No. Grant date 

Expiry/ 
exercise 

date 
Exercise price  

$

Fair value 
received  

$

 Options - Series 
 (9) Issued 01/10/03  200,000 1/10/03 30/9/08 4.85 -

200,000    -
        

(iii)  Exercised during the financial year 

2005
Options – Series  

No. of 
options 

exercised 

Grant 
date 

Exercise 
date 

Expiry 
date  

Exercise 
price 

$

No. of 
shares 
issued 

Fair 
value 

received  

$

Fair value of 
shares at date  

of issue  
$

(1) Issued 26/7/01 30,000 26/7/01 25/2/05 25/7/06 1.26 30,000 37,800 66,600
30,000     30,000 37,800 66,600

         

2004
Options – Series  

No. of 
options 

exercised 

Grant date Exercise 
date 

Expiry 
date  

Exercise 
price 

$

No. of 
shares 
issued 

Fair 
value 

received  

$

Fair value of 
shares at date  

of issue  
$

(1) Issued 26/7/01 12,000 26/7/01 31/7/03 25/7/06 1.26 12,000 15,120 51,600
(1) Issued 26/7/01 30,000 26/7/01 13/8/03 25/7/06 1.26 30,000 37,800 156,000
(1) Issued 26/7/01 2,000 26/7/01 20/8/03 25/7/06 1.26 2,000 2,520 10,420
(1) Issued 6/3/02 20,000 6/3/02 25/9/03 5/3/07 1.68 20,000 33,600 96,000
(1) Issued 26/7/01 6,000 26/7/01 31/3/04 25/7/06 1.26 6,000 7,560 21,180

70,000     70,000 96,600 335,200

Fair value of consideration received is measured as the nominal value of cash receipts on conversion. The 
fair value of shares at the date of their issue is measured as the market value at close of trade on the date of 
their issue. 

(iv)  Lapsed during the financial year 
The following equity-based instruments issued to employees have lapsed during the reporting period: 

2005 2004
 Options – Series No. No. 

(1) Issued 26 July 2001 - 27,000
- 27,000

Options series (1) are options to purchase ordinary shares for $1.26 per share at any time from the date of 
vesting to the date of their expiry. The options carry no voting or dividend rights. 

Options lapse when an executive or employee leaves employment. 

(v)  Balance at end of the financial year 

2005
Options – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
No. 

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price 
$

(1) Issued 26 July 2001 23,000 23,000 - 26/07/01 25/07/06 1.26
(2) Issued 6 March 2002 180,000 180,000 - 06/07/02 05/07/07 1.68
(9) Issued 1 October 2003 200,000 20,000 180,000 01/10/03 30/09/08 4.85

403,000    
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5. Share Options (contd) 

(a) Executive and Employee Share Option Plan (Contd)

2004
Options – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
No. 

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price 
$

(1) Issued 26 July 2001 53,000 2,000 51,000 26/07/01 25/07/06 1.26
(2) Issued 6 March 2002 180,000 60,000 120,000 6/07/02 5/07/07 1.68
(9) Issued 1 October 2003 200,000 - 200,000 1/10/03 30/09/08 4.85

 433,000    

The difference between the total market value of options issued during a financial year, at the date of issue, 
and the total amount received from executives/employees is not recognised in the financial statements 
except for the purposes of determining directors’ and executives’ remuneration in respect of that financial 
year as disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements. The amounts are disclosed in remuneration in respect 
of the financial year in which the entitlement was earned.

Consideration received on the exercise of Executive and employee options is recognised in contributed 
equity. During the financial year $37,800 (2004: $96,600) was recognised in contributed equity arising from 
the exercise of Executive and employee options. 

Sirtex Medical Limited from time to time issues options outside of the Executive and Employee Share 
Option Plan. 

Options outside the Executive and Employee Share Option Plan are held primarily by directors and those 
involved in the founding of Sirtex Medical Limited (Note 5(b)) 

Share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. 

(b) Share Options outside Executive and Employee Share Option Plan 
      2005 2004

Other Share Options    No. No. 

Balance at beginning of the financial year (i) 209,385 1,447,463
Granted during the financial year (ii) 500,000 -
Exercised during the financial year (iii) (15,077) (785,678)
Lapsed during the financial year (iv) - (452,400)
Balance at end of the financial year (v) 694,308 209,385

(i)  Balance at beginning of the financial year  

Options – Series No. Grant date 
Expiry/ 

exercise date 
Exercise price  

$

Options - Series 
(3) Issued 24 August 2000 189,385 24/08/00 23/08/05 1.00
(7) Issued 7 May 2002  20,000 07/05/02 06/05/07 1.25

209,385    
       

Options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. 
Series (3) and (7) options vest 10% after 1 year, 30% after 2 years and 60% after 3 years.
Series (3) options were escrowed until 24 August 2002, otherwise options may be exercised at any time 
from the date of vesting to the date of their expiry.

(ii)  Granted during the financial year 

2005
Options – Series No. Grant date 

Expiry/ 
exercise 

date 
Exercise price  

$

Fair value 
received  

$

 Options - Series 
 (10) Issued 04/11/04  500,000 4/11/04 19/11/06 4.85 -

500,000    -
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5. (b) Share Options outside Executive and Employee Share Option Plan (Contd)
No options outside the Executive and Employee Share Option plan were granted during the prior financial 
year 2004. 
Option series (10) are options to purchase ordinary shares for $4.85 per share at any time from the date of 
vesting to the date of their expiry. Option series (10) vest 10% on issue, 30% on 20/11/04 and 60% on 
20/11/05. The options carry no voting or dividend rights. 

(iii)  Exercised during the financial year 

2005
Options – Series  

No. of 
options 

exercised 

Grant 
date 

Exercise 
date 

Expiry 
date  

Exerci
se

price 

$

No. of 
shares 
issued 

Fair value 
received  

$

Fair value of 
shares at date  

of issue  
$

(3) Issued 24/08/00 15,077 24/8/00 1/11/04 23/8/05 1.00 15,077 15,077 43,422
15,077     15,077 15,077 43,422

        

2004
Options – Series  

No. of 
options 

exercised 

Grant 
date 

Exercise 
date 

Expiry 
date  

Exerci
se

price 

$

No. of 
shares 
issued 

Fair value 
received  

$

Fair value of 
shares at date  

of issue  
$

(3) Issued 24/08/00 301,600 24/8/00 7/7/03 23/8/05 1.00 301,600 301,600 1,330,056
(4) Issued 24/08/00 226,200 24/8/00 7/7/03 23/8/05 1.05 226,200 237,510 997,542
(5) Issued 24/08/00 150,800 24/8/00 7/7/03 23/8/05 2.41 150,800 363,428 665,028
(6) Issued 19/11/98 1 19/11/98 31/7/03 18/11/03 0.31 1 0 4
(3) Issued 24/08/00 15,077 24/8/00 27/8/03 23/8/05 1.00 15,077 15,077 75,385
(8) Issued 01/01/03 92,000 01/1/03 25/9/03 31/12/03 1.80 92,000 165,600 441,600

785,678     785,678 1,083,215 3,509,615

Fair value of consideration received is measured as the nominal value of cash receipts on conversion. The 
fair value of shares at the date of their issue is measured as the market value at close of trade on the date of 
their issue. 

(iv)  Lapsed during the financial year 
The following equity-based instruments issued to employees have lapsed during the reporting period: 

2005 2004
 Options – Series No. No. 

(3) Issued 24/08/00  - 75,400
(4) Issued 24/08/00  - 150,800
(5) Issued 24/08/00  - 226,200

- 452,400

(v)  Balance at end of the financial year 

2005
Options – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
No. 

Grant 
date 

Expiry 
date 

Exercise price 
$

(3) Issued 24/8/00 174,308 174,308 - 24/8/00 23/8/05 1.00
(7) Issued 07/05/02 20,000 20,000 - 07/5/02 06/5/07 1.25
(10) Issued 04/11/04 500,000 200,000 300,000 4/11/04 19/11/06 4.85

694,308    
   

2004
Options – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
No. 

Grant 
date 

Expiry 
date 

Exercise price 
$

(3) Issued 24/8/00 189,385 189,385 - 24/8/00 23/8/05 1.00
(7) Issued 07/05/02 20,000 8,000 12,000 07/5/02 06/5/07 1.25

209,385    
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5. (b) Share Options outside Executive and Employee Share Option Plan (Contd)

Share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. 

The difference between the total market value of options issued during a financial year, at the date of issue, 
and the total amount received from employees is not recognised in the financial statements except for the 
purposes of determining Directors’ and Executives’ remuneration in respect of that financial year as 
disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements. The amounts are disclosed in remuneration in respect of the 
financial year in which the entitlement was earned.

Consideration received on the exercise of the options is recognised in contributed equity. During the 
financial year $15,077 (2004: $1,083,215) was recognised in contributed equity arising from the exercise of 
executive and employee options. 

   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$
2004

$
2005

$
2004

$

6. Remuneration of auditors 
Auditor of the parent entity  
Audit or review of the financial report 64,000 51,300 64,000 51,300
Other non-audit services 31,550 35,685 31,550 35,685

95,550 86,985 95,550 86,985
Other auditors
Audit or review of the financial report 20,863 38,304 - -

116,413 125,289 95,550 86,985
The auditor of Sirtex Medical Ltd in Australia is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and the auditor of Sirtex 
Medical Inc in the USA is Deloitte & Touche LLP. 

7. Current receivables 

Trade receivables  3,416 2,186 - -
Trade Receivables from wholly-owned controlled 
entities - - 2,852 2,010
Director related Entities  20 4 - -
Allowance for doubtful debts:  
Other entities  (152) (123) - -

3,284 2,067 2,852 2,010
Goods and services tax (GST) recoverable  182 170 81 -
Other receivables and prepayments  424 344 293 313

3,890 2,581 3,226 2,323
8. Current tax assets 

Current tax receivable  18 397 18 8
18 397 18 8

9. Current inventories
Raw Materials: 

At cost  121 127 - -
121 127 - -

10. Other current financial assets 

At cost:  
      Bills accepted or endorsed by banks  5,500 7,900 5,500 7,900
      Other Term deposits  83 83 83     83 
Non Trade Receivables from:  

Wholly-owned controlled entities  - - - 1,051
Provision for write-off of debts due from 
wholly-owned controlled entities - - - (1,051)

5,583 7,983 5,583 7,983

Sirtex Medical Ltd
Notes to the financial statements 

For the financial Year ending 30 June 2005



43

   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$
2004

$
2005

$
2004

$

11. Non Current Investments 

At cost:  
Shares in wholly-owned controlled entities:  - - 41 42

12. Property, plant and equipment  
   Consolidated 
   

Buildings 
at cost 

Leasehold 
improve-
ments at 

cost 

Plant and 
equipment at 

cost 
Assets Work 
in Progress Total 

   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Gross carrying amount
Balance at 30 June 2004  1,442 - 770 164 2,376
Additions   772 - 637 39 1,448
Disposals   - - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2005  2,214 - 1,407 203 3,824

Accumulated depreciation 
Balance at 30 June 2004  - - 458 - 458
Disposals   - - - - -
Depreciation expense   - - 190 - 190
Other    - - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2005  - - 648 - 648
   
Net book value   
As at 30 June 2004   1,442 - 312 164 1,918
As at 30 June 2005   2,214 - 759 203 3,176

   Company 
   

Buildings 
at cost 

Leasehold 
improve-
ments at 

cost 

Plant and 
equipment 

at cost 
Assets Work 
in Progress Total 

   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Gross carrying amount
Balance at 30 June 2004  - - 663 31 694
Additions   - - 502 39 541
Disposals   - - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2005  - - 1,165 70 1,235

Accumulated depreciation 
Balance at 30 June 2004  - - 420 - 420
Disposals   - - - - -
Depreciation expense   - - 130 - 130
Balance at 30 June 2005  - - 550 - 550
   
Net book value   
As at 30 June 2004   - - 243 31 274
As at 30 June 2005   - - 615 70 685

   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$’000 
2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether recognised 
as an expense or capitalised as part of the carrying 
amount of other assets during the year: 
Buildings  - - - -
Plant and equipment  190 118 130 90

190 118 130 90
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   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$’000 
2004
$’000  

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

13. Intangibles 

Patents, trademarks and licences  3,607 3,607 3,607 3,607
Accumulated amortisation  (1,473) (1,293) (1,473) (1,293)

2,134 2,314 2,134 2,314

Aggregate amortisation allocated during the year is 
recognised as an expense and disclosed in note 2 to 
the financial statements 
Patents, trademarks and licences (note 2)  180 181 180 181

14. Deferred tax assets 

Future income tax benefit 
Tax losses – revenue  571 2,242 460 1,245
Tax losses – capital  145 145 145 145
Timing differences attributable to:  

Parent entity 241 194 241 194
Entities in the tax-consolidated  
group (i) 70 23 70 23
Other(ii)  2,749 596 - -

3,776 3,200 916 1,607

(i)  Entities in the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement. Refer to note 3 for 
further information. 

(ii) This balance relates to Future income tax benefits arising from Sirtex Medical Inc in the USA. 
15. Current payables

Trade payables  847 315 321 40
Other payables 922 899 371 478
Trade payables to wholly owned controlled 
entities - - - 57
Non-trade payables to wholly owned controlled 
entities - - 1,041 1,282
Non-trade payable to directors and director-
related entities 33 31 - 4

1,802 1,245 1,733 1,861
16. Current interest-bearing liabilities 

Secured: 
Bank loans(i)   84 27 - -

84 27 - -
(i) Secured by a mortgage over premises, the current market value of which exceeds the value of the 
mortgage 

17. Current tax liabilities 

Income tax payable attributable to: 
Parent entity 10 - 51 -
Entities in the tax-consolidated group (i) 265 - - -
Other - 48 - -

275 48 51 -

(i)   Entities in the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement. Refer to note 3 for 
further information. 

18. Current provisions

Employee benefits (note 22) 149 181 94 95
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   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$’000 
2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

19. Other current liabilities

Interest in advance  - 34 - 34

20. Non-current interest-bearing liabilities
Secured: 

Bank loans (i) 858 1,042 - -
(i) Secured by a mortgage over premises, the current market value of which exceeds the value of the mortgage 

21. Non-current provisions

Employee benefits (note 22) 63 44 50 38

22. Employee benefits 

The aggregate employee benefit liability 
recognised and included in the financial 
statements is as follows: 
Provision for employee benefits:  

Current (note 18)  149 181 94 95
Non-current (note 21)  63 44 50 38

Accrued wages and salaries (i) 35 - 35 -
247 225 179 133

(i) Accrued wages and salaries are included in the current other payables balance as disclosed in note 15 
to the financial report. 

   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

No. 
2004
No.  

2005
No. 

2004
No. 

Number of employees at end of financial year  29 25 14 14

   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$’000 
2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

23. Capitalised borrowing costs

Borrowing costs capitalised during the 
financial year 56 - - -

2005
%

2004
%

2005
%

2004
%

Weighted average capitalisation rate on funds 
borrowed generally 6% - - -

     
   Consolidated  Company 

24. Contributed equity 2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

55,385,982 fully paid ordinary shares 
(2004: 55,340,905) 24,264 24,211 24,264 24,211

Share Issue Costs  (1,251) (1,251) (1,251) (1,251)

23,013 22,960 23,013 22,960
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24. Contributed equity (contd)    
   2005  2004 
   No. 

’000 $’000  
No. 
’000 $’000 

Fully paid ordinary shares 
Balance at beginning of financial year        55,341 24,211 54,485 23,031
Employee share options exercised (Note 5)  30              38  70 97
Other Share Options Exercised (Note 5)  15 15 786 1,083
Balance at end of financial year  55,386 24,264 55,341 24,211

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. 

Share options 

In accordance with the provisions of the Executive Share Option Plan, as at 30 June 2005, Executives have 
options over 903,000 ordinary shares (of which 480,000 are unvested), in aggregate. 
Further details of the Executive and Employee Share Option Plan are contained in note 5 to the financial 
statements. 

  Consolidated  Company 
2005
$’000 

2004
$’000  

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

25. Accumulated Losses

Balance at beginning of financial year (4,790) (5,487) (10,298) (8,576)
Net (loss)/profit attributable to members of the 
parent entity (1,442) 697 (1,854) (1,722)
Balance at end of financial year  (6,232) (4,790) (12,152) (10,298)
    

26. Earnings per share    
   Consolidated 

   2005
Cents per 

share 

2004
Cents per 

share 

Basic earnings per share  (2.6) 1.3

Diluted earnings per share  (2.6) 1.3
    
Basic earnings per share 
The earnings and weighted average number of 
ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic 
earnings per share are as follows: 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Earnings (a)  (1,442) 697

2005
No.  

2004
No.  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (b)  55,361,257 55,291,842

(i) Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share reconciles to net profit in the statement 
of financial performance. 

(ii) The options are considered to be potential ordinary shares and are therefore excluded from the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share. 
Where dilutive, potential ordinary shares are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 
(refer below). 
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26. Earnings per share (contd) 

Diluted earnings per share   
The earnings and weighted average number of 
ordinary and potential ordinary shares used in 
the calculation of diluted earnings per share are 
as follows: 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Earnings (a)   (1,442) 697
    

2005
No.  

2004
No.  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and 
potential ordinary shares (b), (c), (d) 55,361,257 55,630,136

    
(a) Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share reconciles to net profit in the 

statement of financial performance 
(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation 

of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 
the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows: 

2005
No. ’000 

2004
No. ’000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in the calculation of basic EPS 55,361 55,292
Shares deemed to be issued for no 
consideration in respect of: 
Share options  - 338
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
and potential ordinary shares used in the 
calculation of diluted EPS 55,361 55,630

(c) The following potential ordinary shares are not dilutive and are therefore excluded from the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation 
of diluted earnings per share: 

2005
No. ‘000 

2004
No. ‘000 

Share options  - 200

    

(d) Weighted average number of converted, lapsed, or cancelled potential ordinary shares used in the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share: 

2005
No. ‘000 

2004
No. ‘000 

Share Options   - 38

27. Commitments for expenditure 
   Consolidated  Company 

   2005
$’000 

2004
$’000  

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

(a) Capital expenditure commitments 
Plant and equipment
Not longer than 1 year  350 358 - -
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 
5 years - - - -
Longer than 5 years  - - - -

350 358 - -
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28. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
During the year the University of Western Australia issued a writ against Sirtex claiming benefit from all 
of the company’s microsphere technology. The Sirtex Board has appointed a Litigation Committee 
comprising the Non-Executive Directors to deal with this matter and is firmly of the view that the UWA 
claim is totally without merit. Sirtex has issued a counterclaim against the University of Western Australia 
and will both defend the UWA action and prosecute its own claim with the utmost vigour. The 
quantification of the impact of this matter cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. 

29. Economic dependency 

A significant proportion of Sirtex Medical Limited purchases are made from ANSTO 
Radiopharmaceuticals and Industrials (ARI).  To address this dependency upon one source of supply and 
to facilitate supply in the Northern Hemisphere, Sirtex Medical Limited has purchased premises in 
Wilmington, Massachusetts, USA in which it is in the process of building a facility to manufacture and 
supply the Northern hemisphere. 

   
30. Leases    

Operating leases 
Leasing arrangements
Operating leases relate to the Sydney office, which has a lease term of 3 years. The consolidated entity 
does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period. Additionally, offices 
are leased in Chicago with a remaining lease period of 1 year, and Germany with a remaining period of 4 
years. 

Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$’000 
2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Non-cancellable operating leases
Not longer than 1 year  268 153 143 107
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  571 147 213 -
Longer than 5 years  17 - - -

856 300 356 107
31. Controlled entities 

Name of entity 
Country of 

incorporation Ownership interest 
2005

%
2004

%
Parent entity    

Sirtex Medical Limited Australia 
Controlled entities    

Sirtex Medical Products Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Sirtex Medical Inc USA 100 100 
Sirtex Medical Europe Limited UK 100 100
Sirtex Medical Europe GmbH Germany 100 100 
Sirtex Wilmington LLC USA 100 100
    

Sirtex Medical Europe GmbH was incorporated on 9 February 2004. Cost of acquisition - EUR25,000 paid 
in cash. 
Sirtex Wilmington LLC was incorporated on 3 June 2004. Cost of acquisition was USD10,000 paid in 
cash. This company is 100% owned by Sirtex Medical Inc. 
Sirtex Medical Ltd is included in the tax-consolidated group and is the head entity for tax consolidations. 
Sirtex Medical Products Pty Limited is included in the tax-consolidated group. 
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32. Segment information 

Segment revenues
External sales Inter-segment(i) Other Total 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Asia Pacific 656 1,081 10,400 8,261 197 44 11,253 9,386
North America 9,638 8,063 - - - - 9,638 8,063
Europe 1,401 373 - - 24 - 1,425 373
Total of all segments      22,316 17,822
Eliminations       (10,400)  (8,261) 
Unallocated       643 508
Consolidated       12,559 10,069

(i) Inter-segment sales are recorded at amounts equal to competitive market prices charged to external customers 
for similar goods. 

 Segment results 
2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Asia Pacific 2,584 555
North America (1,935) (1,675)
Europe (839) (738)
Total of all segments (190) (1,858)
Eliminations (1,240) 1,179
Unallocated - 62
(Loss)/Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense  (1,430) (617)
Income tax (expense)/benefit relating to ordinary activities (12) 1,314
(Loss)/Profit from ordinary activities after related income tax expense (1,442) 697
Net (loss)/profit (1,442) 697

Segment assets and liabilities 
Assets Liabilities 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Asia Pacific 20,294 14,661 5,544 4,107
North America 9,633 6,117 10,747 6,013
Europe 942 653 3,435 2,303
Total of all segments 30,869 21,431 19,726 12,423
Eliminations (16,440) (8,623) (16,495) (9,802)
Unallocated 5,583 7,983 - -
Consolidated 20,012 20,791 3,231 2,621

Other segment information 
Asia Pacific North America Europe 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

Acquisition of segment assets    
- Land & Buildings - - 772 1,442 - -   
- Plant and equipment 541 106 15 45 120 22   
Depreciation and amortisation 
of segment assets 

   

- Plant and Equipment 130 98 10 16 50 4   
- Intangibles 180 181 - - - -   

 Products and services within each business segment 
For management purposes, the consolidated entity is organised into three geographical areas – Asia Pacific, North 
America and Europe.  These geographical areas are the basis on which the consolidated entity reports its primary 
segment information.  The consolidated entity operates in one business segment being research and development 
and commercialisation of treatments for liver cancer. 
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33. Related party and specified executive disclosures  

(a) Equity interests in related parties   

Equity interests in controlled entities   
Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in controlled entities are disclosed in note 31 to the financial 
statements.

 (b) Specified Directors’ and specified Executives’ remuneration   

Details of specified directors’ and specified executives’ remuneration are disclosed in note 5 to the financial 
statements.

(c) Specified Directors’ and specified Executives’ equity holdings 

Fully paid ordinary shares of Sirtex Medical Ltd  
Balance @ 

1/7/04
Granted as 

remune-
ration 

Received on 
exercise of 

options 

Net other 
change 

Balance  
@ 30/06/05 

Balanc
e held 
nomin

ally
No. No. No. No. No. No. 

Specified Directors 

Dr B. Gray 17,208,283 - - 150,000 17,358,283 -
G. Boyce 5,000 - - -         5,000 -
C. Rowland 112,000 - -     112,000 -
R. Hill - - - - - -
Dr J. Eady - - - - - -
G. Wong - - - - - -
Specified Executives 
N. Lange - - - - - -
P. Manley - - 30,000             - 30,000 -
Dr D. James - - - - -
Dr M. Van Den Berg - - - - - -
Dr S. Jones 318,820 - - (272,820) 46,000 -

17,644,103 - 30,000   (122,820) 17,551,283 -

Share options of Sirtex Medical Ltd 
Bal @ 
1/7/04

Granted 
as remu-
neration 

Exer-
cised 

Net 
other 

change 

Bal @ 
30/06/05

Bal
vested @ 
30/06/05

Vested 
but not 
exerci-
sable 

Vested 
and 

exerci-
sable  

Options 
vested 
during 
year

No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. 

Specified Directors 
Dr B. Gray 114,000 400,000 - - 514,000 274,000 -   274,000 160,000

G. Boyce - 100,000 - - 100,000 40,000 - 40,000 40,000

C. Rowland 180,000 - - - 180,000 180,000 -   180,000 120,000

R. Hill - - - - - - - - -

J. Eady - - - - - - - - -

G. Wong - - - - - - - - -

Specified
Executives 
N. Lange 200,000 - - - 200,000 20,000 - 20,000 20,000

P. Manley 30,000 - (30,000) - - - - - -

Dr D. James 15,000 - - - 15,000 15,000 - 15,000 -

Dr M. Van Den Berg - - - - - - - - -
Dr S. Jones 5,000 - - - 5,000 5,000 - 5,000 3,000

544,000 500,000 (30,000) - 1,014,000 534,000 -   534,000 343,000
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33. Related party and specified executive disclosures (Contd) 

All executive share options issued to the Directors during the financial year were made in accordance with the 
provisions of the Employee and Executive Share Option Plan. 

Each executive share option converts into 1 ordinary share of Sirtex Medical Limited on exercise. No amounts are 
paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option. 

During the financial year 30,000 options, of a total of 45,077 were exercised by specified Executives, for 30,000 
ordinary shares in Sirtex Medical Limited. The 30,000 options had an exercise price of $1.26.  

15,077 Other options were exercised for 15,077 ordinary shares with an exercise price of $1.00. 

No amounts remain unpaid on the options exercised during the financial year at year-end. 

Dr. B Gray was issued 400,000 and G. Boyce 100,000 options on 4 November 2004 with an exercise price of $4.85. 
Further details of the options granted during the year are contained in note 5 to the financial statements. 

(d) Other transactions with specified directors  

At 30 June 2005 $20,220 (2004: $4,425) was receivable from Directors and Director related entities. This amount is 
included within current receivables. The receivable relates to legal expenses paid by the company on behalf of the 
Director and are to be repaid by the Director. 

At 30 June 2005 an amount of $32,950 (2004: $Nil) was payable to Directors and Director related entities. This 
amount is included within current payables. This payable relates to expenses for Dr B. Gray relocation to Sydney. 

During the financial year Sirtex Medical Products Pty Limited purchased saleable product from Gray Surgical (Pine 
Ridge Holdings Pty Ltd), a Director related entity owned by Dr B. Gray. Purchases were on normal commercial terms 
and conditions and totaled $107,400 (2004: $54,386). 

(e) Transactions within the wholly-owned group 

The wholly-owned group includes: 

• The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group; and 
• Wholly-owned controlled entities 
The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is Sirtex Medical Ltd. 

Amounts receivable from and payable to entities in the wholly owned group are disclosed in notes 7, 10, 14, 15 and 
17 to the financial statements. 

During the financial year Sirtex Medical Ltd provided management services, on normal commercial terms and 
conditions, to entities in the wholly owned group and received licence fees from entities in the wholly owned group. 

(f) Controlling entities 
The parent entity in the consolidated entity is Sirtex Medical Ltd. 
The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is Sirtex Medical Ltd. 

      
   Consolidated  Company 
   2005

$’000 
2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

34. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash  
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash 
includes cash on hand and in banks and investments 
in money market instruments, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts.  Cash at the end of the financial 
year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the statement of 
financial position as follows: 

Cash  1,314 2,271 186 139
Bills Accepted or endorsed by banks  5,500 7,900 5,500 7,900

6,814 10,171 5,686 8,039
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34. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows (Contd)
   Consolidated  Company 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

(b) Financing facilities  
Secured loan facilities with maturity June 2024 
(mortgage): 

• amount used  1,069 1,069 - -
• amount unused  - - - -

1,069 1,069 - -

(c) Cash balances not available for use 

Term deposit as guarantee of $83,154 (2004: $83,154). 
   Consolidated  Company 

(d) Reconciliation of loss from ordinary 
activities after related income tax to net 
cash flows from operating activities 

2005
$’000 

2004
$’000 

 2005 
$’000 

2004
$’000 

(Loss)/Profit from ordinary activities after related 
income tax (1,442) 697 (1,854) (1,722)
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 370 299 310 271
(Decrease)/Increase in current tax asset (1,553) (94) (10) 470
Decrease/(Increase) in deferred tax asset 1,356 (1,519) 691 (83)

Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects 
from acquisition and disposal of businesses: 
(Increase)/decrease in assets:  
Current receivables  (1,309) 99 (903) (1,832)
Non Trade receivables  - - - 838
Current inventories  6 (6) -
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities: 
Current payables  557 (134) (128) 899
Other current liabilities  161 38 17 (961)
Non-current liabilities  19 12 12 11
Net cash used in operating activities (1,835) (608) (1,865) (2,109)

35. Financial instruments 

(a) Significant accounting policies 
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements. 

(b) Interest Rate Risk
The consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 30 June 2005 was on cash 5.35% (2004: 3.8%), term 
deposits 5.00% (2004: 4.5%) and bills of exchange 5.57% (2004: 5.38%). The US mortgage is fixed for 5 years at 
5.75% after which it is Sirtex Medical’s option to renegotiate a further fixed term or to convert to a variable rate loan. 
All other financial assets and financial liabilities were non-interest bearing.

(c) Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk 
of financial loss from defaults. The consolidated entity measures credit risk on a fair value basis. 
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35. Financial instruments (Contd) 

The consolidated entity does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 
counterparties having similar characteristics. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses, 
represents the consolidated entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any 
collateral or other security obtained. 

(d) Net Fair Value 
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements represents 
their respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 1 to the 
financial statements. 

Investments in subsidiaries are held at cost and represent the cash invested in the subsidiary. $42,000 was 
invested as share capital in subsidiaries in 2004 and is shown as cash flows from investing activities (Refer cash 
flow statement 2004).

36. Impacts of adopting Australian equivalents to IFRS 

Management of the transition to A-IFRS 
As at 30 June 2004 we stated that our A-IFRS project was on track and that we would be in a position to meet the 
required reporting requirements for the first full A-IFRS compliant accounts, which will be for the half year 
ending 31 December 2005.  We are still on track to do this but we are not as far forward as we had planned to be 
by 30 June 2005.  This is due to the fact that the previous CFO and Company Secretary left the company after the 
half-year accounts for 30 December 2004 were lodged and a permanent CFO did not commence work until 4 July 
2005.  As such we have been unable to quantify any of the impacts of adopting A-IFRS, however there is a plan 
in place for the next 6 months such that we will meet the necessary reporting deadlines for the half-year ending 31 
December 2005. While no decision has yet been made as to the policy alternatives to be applied or the extent to 
which it will affect the consolidated entity, the Directors of Sirtex Medical Limited have identified the key 
accounting policy differences expected to arise on transitioning to A-IFRS. 

On first-time adoption of A-IFRS, the consolidated entity will be required to restate its comparative balance sheet 
such that the comparative balances presented comply with the requirements specified in the A-IFRS.  That is, the 
balances that will be presented in the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2005 may not be the balances 
that will be presented as comparative numbers in the financial report for the following year, as a result of the 
requirement to retrospectively apply the A-IFRS.  In addition, certain assets and liabilities may not qualify for 
recognition under A-IFRS, and will need to be derecognised. As most adjustments on first-time adoption are to be 
made against opening retained earnings, the amount of retained earnings at 30 June 2004 presented in the 2005 
financial report and the 2006 financial report available to be paid out as dividends may differ significantly. 

Various voluntary and mandatory exemptions are available to the consolidated entity on first-time adoption, 
which will not be available on an ongoing basis. The exemptions provide relief from retrospectively accounting 
for certain balances, instruments and transactions in accordance with A-IFRS, and includes relief from having to 
restate past business combinations, expense share-based payments granted before 7 November 2002, and permits 
the identification of a ‘deemed cost’ for property, plant and equipment. 

The impact on Sirtex Medical Limited of the changes in accounting policies on first-time adoption of A-IFRS will 
be affected by the choices made. The consolidated entity is evaluating the effect of the options available on first 
time adoption in order to determine the best possible outcome for the consolidated entity. 

Key accounting policy differences expected to arise on transitioning to A-IFRS include:

(a)    Share Based Payment 
Share-based compensation forms part of the remuneration of employees of the consolidated entity (including 
Executives) as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The consolidated entity does not recognise an 
expense for any share-based compensation granted. Under A-IFRS, the consolidated entity will be required to 
recognise an expense for such share-based compensation. Share-based compensation is measured at the fair value 
of the share options determined at grant date and recognised over the expected vesting period of the options. A 
reversal of the expense will be permitted to the extent non-market based vesting conditions (e.g. service 
conditions) are not met. The entity will not retrospectively recognise share-based payments vested before 1 July 
2005 as permitted under A-IFRS first time adoption. 
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36. Impacts of adopting Australian equivalents to IFRS (Contd) 

The recognition of the expense will decrease the consolidated entity’s opening retained earnings on initial 
adoption of A-IFRS and increase share capital by the same amount for share-based payments issued after 7 
November 2002 but not vested before 1 July 2005. Similar impacts will also occur in future periods, however, 
quantification of the impact on equity and in the income statement of the existing share options granted as 
remuneration has not been completed at the reporting date.

(b)    Income Tax 
The consolidated entity currently recognises deferred taxes by accounting for the differences between accounting 
profits and taxable income, which give rise to ‘permanent’ and ‘timing’ differences. Under A-IFRS, deferred 
taxes are measured by reference to the ‘temporary differences’ determined as the difference between the carrying 
amount and the tax base of assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet. 

Adjustments to the recognised amounts of deferred taxes will result as a consequence of adjustments to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities resulting from the adoption of A-IFRS. The likely impact of these 
changes on deferred tax balances has not currently been determined.

(c)    Property, Plant & Equipment 
On transition to A-IFRS, the entity has several options in the determination of the cost of each tangible asset, and 
can also elect to use the cost or fair value basis for the measurement of each class of property, plant and 
equipment after transition. At the date of this report, the entity has not decided which options and measurement 
basis will be adopted and the likely impacts therefore cannot be determined. 

(d)    Impairment of Assets 
Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds recoverable 
amount. 

Under A-IFRS, both current and non-current assets are tested for impairment. In addition, A-IFRS has a more 
prescriptive impairment test, and requires discounted cash flows to be used where value in use is used to assess 
recoverable amount. Consequently, on adoption of A-IFRS, an impairment of certain assets may need to be 
recognised, thereby decreasing opening retained earnings and the carrying amount of assets – the consolidated 
entity has not yet determined the impact, if any, of any impairment, which may be required. It is not practicable to 
determine the impact of the change in accounting policy for future financial reports, as any impairment or reversal 
thereof will be affected by future conditions.

(e)    Financial Assets and Liabilities
Under current Australian GAAP, financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at cost, at fair value, or at 
net market value. On adoption of A-IFRS, the consolidated entity will be required to classify these financial 
instruments into various specified categories. The classification of the instrument will affect the instrument’s 
subsequent measurement – at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, fair value with movements 
recognised through equity or fair value recognised through the profit and loss. The consolidated entity is 
evaluating the different options available, but has not made any determination at reporting date of the accounting 
to be adopted, and consequently, the impact of the change on the financial statements cannot yet be quantified. 

(f)    Impairment of Financial Assets  
The consolidated entity provides for doubtful debts using an estimate based on historical trends.  Under A-IFRS, 
the entity will no longer be able to provide for doubtful debts on this basis, as a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired only if there is objective evidence as a result of one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset – that is, an incurred but not yet reported model rather than an expected loss 
model must be applied.  Consequently, on adoption of A-IFRS, and on an ongoing basis, general provisions and 
expected loss models may no longer be appropriate, which may cause the carrying amount of various financial 
assets to increase. 

(g)    Depreciation 
Under current Australian GAAP, the consolidated entity’s property, plant and equipment is depreciated to the 
extent of its depreciable amount, determined as the difference between carrying amount and residual value.  The 
residual amount used in the determination of recoverable amount is estimated at the date of acquisition and is not 
subsequently increased for changes in prices, except where the asset had been revalued.  Under A-IFRS, the 
residual amount is reviewed at each balance date and revised to the current net amount expected from the disposal 
of the asset if it were already at the age and condition expected at the end of its useful life. Accordingly, changes 
to the residual value may introduce additional volatility in the profit or loss. 
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Impacts of adopting Australian equivalents to IFRS (Contd)

(h)    Research & Development 
As disclosed in note 1(r), research and development costs are currently expensed except to the extent that they are 
expected, beyond any reasonable doubt, to be recoverable.  Under A-IFRS, research costs will no longer be 
permitted to be deferred and will be immediately expensed.  While development costs may still be deferred, more 
stringent recognition requirements apply.  On an ongoing basis, the effect of the change is that it may be more 
difficult to capitalise such costs, resulting in a lower net asset balance sheet position as compared to under current 
Australian GAAP.  As Sirtex Medical Ltd has not previously capitalised research and development costs no 
impact on the income statement is expected. 

(i)    Proceeds on sale of assets  
The current definition of revenue requires proceeds on sale of non-current assets to be included as revenue – this 
has the effect of ‘grossing up’ the statement of financial performance.  Under A-IFRS, only the net gain or loss 
from the sale will be recognised in profit or loss. Consequently, there will be no net impact on the income 
statement. 

37. Additional company information 

Sirtex Medical Ltd is a listed public company, incorporated and operating in Australia, North America and 
Europe. 

Registered office Principal place of business 

Unit F6, Parkview, 16 Mars Road, Unit F6, Parkview, 16 Mars Road, 
Lane Cove, NSW, 2066 Lane Cove, NSW, 2066 
Ph: +61-2-9936-1400 Ph: +61-2-9936-1400 
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Additional stock exchange information as at 29 August 
2005
Number of holders of equity securities 

Ordinary share capital 

• 55,431,136 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 1,933 individual shareholders. 
All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share, however, partly paid shares do not carry the rights to dividends. 
Options 

• 1,052,154 options are held by 10 individual optionholders. 
B. N Gray holds 514,000 of the unlisted options. 
All issued Options are unlisted and do not carry a right to vote or rights to dividends. 
Distribution of holders of equity securities 

Fully Paid 
Ordinary 
Shares

Holders      

1 - 1,000 463,414 699      
1,001 - 5,000 2,404,605 899      
5,001 - 10,000 1,413,784 175      
10,001 - 100,000 3,510,137 131      
100,001 and over 47,639,196 29      

55,431,136 1,933      
Holding less than a 
marketable parcel 17,764 107      

Substantial shareholders 
Fully paid 

Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 19,698,366 35.54   
B.N. Gray 17,358,283 31.32   
Cancer Research Institute 4,864,432 8.78   

41,921,081 75.63   

Twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities 
Fully paid 

Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage 

Mr Bruce Nathaniel Gray 14,738,283 26.588   
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 14,443,112 26.056   
Cancer Research Institute 4,864,432 8.776   
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd <CFS WSLE Imputation fund A/C> 2,236,423 4.035   
Prof Bruce Nathaniel Gray 1,700,000 3.067   
Queensland Investment Corporation 1,591,651 2.871   
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd <CFS Imputation fund A/C> 1,472,419 2.656   
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd <CFS Developing Companies A/C> 1,448,559 2.613   
National Nominees Limited 530,205 0.957   
Mr Erik Adriaanse <National Invest A/C> 500,000 0.902   
Pine Ridge Holdings Pty Ltd <Superannuation Fund A/C> 460,000 0.830   
Pine Ridge Holdings Pty Ltd <Pine Ridge Super Fund A/C> 360,000 0.649   
ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C> 326,430 0.589   
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 295,393 0.533   
Apollo Solutions Limited 284,491 0.513   
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 267,410 0.482   
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 264,426 0.477   
Pacific Securities Inc 250,000 0.451   
City and Westminster Limited 250,000 0.451   
Bannaby Investments Pty Ltd <Bannaby Super fund A/C> 210,000 0.379   

         46,493,234 83.876   
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Company secretary 
Ms. A. Talbot 

Registered office Principal administration office 
Unit F6, Parkview, 16 Mars Road, Unit F6, Parkview, 16 Mars Road, 
Lane Cove, NSW, 2066 Lane Cove, NSW, 2066 
Ph: +61-2-9936-1400 Ph: +61-2-9936-1400 

Share registry  
Registries Ltd  
Level 2  
28 Margaret Street  
Sydney, NSW, 2000  
Ph: +61-2-9290-9600  
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